CAMBREX CORP Form DEF 14A March 16, 2018

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

(Rule 14a-101)

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN PROXY STATEMENT

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant Filed by a party other than the Registrant

Check the appropriate box:

Preliminary Proxy Statement
Confidential, For Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
Definitive Proxy Statement
Definitive Additional Materials
Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-2
Cambrex Corporation

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

No fee required.

Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.

(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:

(2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:

(3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
(5) Total fee paid:
Fee paid previously with preliminary proxy materials. Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing. (1) Amount Previously Paid:
(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement no.:
(3) Filing Party:
(4) Date Filed:

CAMBREX CORP	

March 16, 2018

Dear Stockholder,

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Cambrex Corporation (the "Company" or "Cambrex"). This year's meeting will be held on April 26, 2018, at 1:00 P.M. at the Metropolitan Center, One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073.

At this year's meeting, you will be asked (1) to elect the eight director nominees named in the accompanying proxy statement; (2) to hold an advisory, non-binding vote on the compensation of named executive officers as disclosed in the accompanying proxy statement; (3) to ratify the selection of BDO USA, LLP as the Company's independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018; (4) to consider the approval, of a stockholder proposal regarding a report on environmental, social and governance topics, if properly presented at the meeting; and (5) to transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Your vote is important. We invite you to attend the meeting in person. If attending the meeting is not feasible, we encourage you to read the proxy statement and vote your shares as early as possible. To ensure your shares will be represented, we ask that you vote your shares via the Internet or by telephone, as instructed on the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials. If you requested a copy of the proxy card by mail, you may submit your vote by completing, signing, dating and returning the proxy card by mail. We encourage you to vote via the Internet or by telephone. If you attend the meeting, you may continue to have your shares voted as instructed in the proxy, or you may withdraw your proxy at the meeting and vote your shares in person. Your Board of Directors and management look forward to greeting personally those stockholders who are able to attend.

Sincerely,

Samantha Hanley

Corporate Secretary

CAMBREX CORPORATION

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD APRIL 26, 2018

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Annual Meeting") of Cambrex Corporation (the "Company" or "Cambrex") will be held at the Metropolitan Center, One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073 on April 26, 2018, at 1:00 P.M. for the following purposes:

- 1. To elect the eight (8) director nominees named in the accompanying proxy statement to hold office until the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until their successors shall be elected and qualified;
- 2. To hold an advisory, non-binding vote on the compensation of named executive officers as disclosed in the accompanying proxy statement;
- 3. To consider and act upon the ratification of the appointment of BDO as the Company's independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018;
- 4. To consider the approval, of a stockholder proposal regarding a report on environmental, social and governance topics, if properly presented at the Annual Meeting; and
- 5. To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment thereof. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on March 1, 2018, will be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. The list of such stockholders will be available for inspection by stockholders during the ten days prior to the meeting in accordance with Section 219 of the Delaware General Corporation Law at One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073 and will also be available at the Annual Meeting. Stockholders may make arrangements for such inspection by contacting Samantha Hanley, Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, Cambrex Corporation, One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073.

By order of the Board of Directors,
Samantha Hanley
Corporate Secretary

March 16, 2018

THE VOTE OF EACH STOCKHOLDER IS IMPORTANT.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
PROXY SOLICITATION	1
VOTING OF PROXY AND REVOCABILITY	1
RECORD DATE, QUORUM AND VOTING RIGHTS	2
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS	3
COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP BY DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	4
PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	6
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	10
REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE	12
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE	12
AUDIT COMMITTEE	14
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE	15
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	16
COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	23
PROPOSAL NO. 2 ADVISORY NON-BINDING VOTE ON THE COMPENSATION OF THE NAMED	
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	35
PROPOSAL NO. 3 RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS	36
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FIRM FEES	36
AUDIT FEES	36
AUDIT-RELATED FEES	36
PROPOSAL NO. 4 SHAREHOLDER PROPOSAL REGARDING A REPORT ON ENVIRONMENTAL,	
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE TOPICS	37
THE COMPANY'S STATEMENT IN OPPOSITION	38
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2019	39
MULTIPLE STOCKHOLDERS WITH THE SAME ADDRESS	40

CAMBREX CORPORATION

2018 ANNUAL MEETING OF

STOCKHOLDERS

PROXY STATEMENT

PROXY SOLICITATION

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Cambrex Corporation (the "Company" or "Cambrex") for use at the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 26, 2018 (the "Annual Meeting"), and at any adjournment of the Annual Meeting. The address of the Company's principal executive office is One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073. This Proxy Statement and the form of proxy are being made available via the Internet, and upon request will be mailed to our stockholders, on or about March 16, 2018.

The costs of soliciting proxies will be borne by the Company. Brokerage houses, banks, custodians, nominees and fiduciaries are being requested to forward the proxy materials to beneficial owners, and their reasonable expenses relating thereto will be reimbursed by the Company. Solicitation will be made by mail and also may be made personally, by telephone or electronic mail by the Company's officers, directors and employees without special compensation for such activities.

INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS

We are furnishing proxy materials to our shareholders via the Internet by mailing a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, instead of mailing or e-mailing copies of those materials. The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials directs shareholders to a website where they can access our proxy materials, including this Proxy Statement and our annual report, and view instructions on how to vote via the Internet, mobile device, or by telephone. If you received a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials and would prefer to receive a paper copy of our proxy materials, please follow the instructions included in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials. If you have previously elected to receive our proxy materials via e-mail, you will continue to receive access to those materials electronically unless you elect otherwise.

VOTING OF PROXY AND REVOCABILITY

Stockholder of Record. If your shares are registered directly in your name with the Company's transfer agent, you are considered the stockholder of record with respect to those shares, and the proxy materials were sent directly to you by the Company.

Beneficial Owner of Shares Held in Street Name. If your shares are held in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, broker dealer, or other similar organization, then you are the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name," and the proxy materials were forwarded to you by that organization. The organization holding your account is considered the stockholder of record for purposes of voting at the Annual Meeting. As a beneficial owner, you have the right to instruct that organization on how to vote the shares held in your account and you are also invited to attend the Annual Meeting. To attend the Annual Meeting, you must present a brokerage statement showing proof of your ownership of the Company's common stock as of the record date.

Voting. There are four ways to vote:

In Person. You may vote in person at the Annual Meeting. If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name and wish to vote in person, you must obtain a legal proxy from your nominee. A legal proxy is a written document that authorizes you to vote your shares held in street name at the Annual Meeting. Please contact the organization that holds your shares for instructions regarding obtaining a legal proxy. You must bring a copy of the legal proxy to the Annual Meeting.

Online. You may vote by proxy by visiting proxyvote.com and entering the control number found in your Notice of Internet Availability. The availability of online voting may depend on the voting procedures of the organization that holds your shares.

Phone. If you request printed copies of the proxy materials by mail, you will receive a proxy card or voting instruction form and you may vote by proxy by calling the toll free number found on the card or form. The availability of phone voting may depend on the voting procedures of the organization that holds your shares.

Mail. If you request printed copies of the proxy materials by mail, you will receive a proxy card or voting instruction form and you may vote by proxy by filling out the card or form and returning it in the envelope provided.

Changing Your Vote. You may revoke your proxy and change your vote at any time before the final vote at the Annual Meeting by (a) attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person, (b) using the online voting method describe above, in which case only your latest internet proxy submitted prior to the Annual Meeting will be counted, (c) using the phone voting method described above, in which case only your latest telephone proxy submitted prior to the Annual Meeting will be counted, or (d) signing and returning a new proxy card or voting instruction form dated as of a later date, in which case only your latest proxy card or voting instruction form received prior to the Annual Meeting will be counted.

Uninstructed Shares. If you are a shareholder of record and you (a) indicate when voting online or by phone that you wish to vote as recommended by the Board or (b) sign and return a proxy card without giving specific voting instructions, then the persons named as proxy holders, Steven M. Klosk, Tom Vadaketh and Samantha Hanley, will vote your shares in the manner recommended by the Board on all matters presented in this Proxy Statement and as they may determine in their best judgment with respect to any other matters properly presented for a vote at the Annual Meeting. If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name and do not provide the organization that holds your shares with specific voting instructions, then the organization that holds your shares may generally vote your shares in their discretion on "routine" matters, but cannot vote on "non-routine" matters.

Routine and Non-Routine Matters. If the organization that holds your shares does not receive instructions from you on how to vote your shares on a non-routine matter, that organization that may inform the inspector of election that it does not have the authority to vote on the matter with respect to your shares, which is generally referred to as a "broker non-vote." At this Annual Meeting, only the ratification of the appointment of BDO as the Company's independent registered public accountants for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, is a matter considered routine, which means that a broker or other nominee may generally vote on that matter and no broker non-votes are expected to exist in connection with that routine matter. The proposals regarding the election of directors, the advisory, non-binding vote on the compensation of named executive officers, and the shareholder proposal, are non-routine matters, which means that a broker or other nominee cannot vote without your instructions, and therefore there may be broker non-votes on such proposals.

The Board knows of no matters to be presented at the Annual Meeting other than those set forth in the foregoing Notice of Annual Meeting.

RECORD DATE, QUORUM AND VOTING RIGHTS

The Company has only one class of voting securities, which is common stock, par value \$0.10 per share ("Common Stock"). Only holders of Common Stock of the Company of record at the close of business on March 1, 2018, will be entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. On such record date there were outstanding and entitled to vote 34,351,494 shares of Common Stock and each such share is entitled to one vote.

The holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, present in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum. Broker non votes and abstentions are counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present.

Please see each proposal for a detailed description of the votes required as well as the treatment of abstentions and broker non votes, as applicable.

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS

The following sets forth information with respect to the only persons of which the Company is aware as of March 1, 2018, who may be deemed to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock:

N	um	ber	of	S	har	es
---	----	-----	----	---	-----	----

Name and Address	Beneficially Owned	Percent of Cla	$ss^{(1)}$
William Blair Investment Management, LLC			
		(2)	
222 W. Adams Street Chicago, IL 60606	2,345,480	6.83	%
The Vanguard Group 100 Vanguard			
	((3)	
Blvd. Malvern, PA 19355	3,068,465	8.93	%
BlackRock, Inc. 55 East 52nd Street			
	((4)	
New York, NY 10055	4,162,750	12.12	%

- ⁽¹⁾For the purpose of this table, the percent of issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company held by each beneficial owner has been calculated on the basis of 34,351,494 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding on March 1, 2018.
- (2) Based on information as of December 31, 2017, obtained from a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 13, 2018, by William Blair Investment Management, LLC ("William Blair"). William Blair reported sole voting power with respect to 2,116,065 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 2,345,480 shares. The foregoing information has been included solely in reliance upon and without independent investigation of the disclosures contained in William Blair's Schedule 13G.
- (3) Based on information as of December 31, 2017, obtained from an amended Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 8, 2018, by The Vanguard Group ("Vanguard"). Vanguard reported sole voting power with respect to 63,953 shares, shared voting power with respect to 4,624 shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 3,002,864 shares, and shared dispositive power with respect to 65,601 shares. The foregoing information has been included solely in reliance upon and without independent investigation of the disclosures contained in Vanguard's Schedule 13G.
- (4) Based on information as of December 31, 2017, obtained from an amended Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on January 23, 2018, by BlackRock, Inc. ("BlackRock"). BlackRock reported sole voting power with respect to 4,086,917 shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 4,162,750 shares. The foregoing information has been included solely in reliance upon and without independent investigation of the disclosures contained in BlackRock's amended Schedule 13G.

COMMON STOCK OWNERSHIP BY DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table gives information concerning the beneficial ownership of the Company's Common Stock as of February 16, 2018, by (i) each director of the Company or nominee for director, (ii) each of the "Named Executive Officers" set forth in the Summary Compensation Table (below) and (iii) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.

	Shares Beneficially		Perc of	ent
Beneficial Owners	Owned ⁽¹⁾		Class ⁽²⁾	
Gregory B. Brown	0	(3)	*	
Shawn Cavanagh	63,908	(4)	*	
Rosina B. Dixon, M.D.	89,242	(5)	*	
Claes Glassell	5,707	(6)	*	
Louis J. Grabowsky	6,818	(7)	*	
Bernhard Hampl	3,340	(8)	*	
Samantha Hanley	31,250	(9)	*	
Kathryn R. Harrigan	74,473	(10)	*	
Ilan Kaufthal	73,855	(11)	*	
Steven M. Klosk	340,828	(12)	1	%
Gregory P. Sargen	57,500	(13)	*	
Peter G. Tombros	46,561	(14)	*	
Tom Vadaketh	9,510	(15)	*	
Shlomo Yanai	27,406	(16)	*	
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group				
(14 Persons)	830,398	(17)	2.4	2%

^{*}Beneficial ownership is less than 1% of the Common Stock outstanding.

(5)

⁽¹⁾Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules. In general, under these rules a beneficial owner of a security includes any person who, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise has or shares voting power or investment power with respect to such security. A person is also deemed a beneficial owner of a security if that person has the right to acquire beneficial ownership of such security within 60 days. Except as otherwise noted, reported share ownership is as of February 16, 2018. Unless otherwise stated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of Common Stock he or she beneficially owns.

⁽²⁾ For the purpose of this table, the percent of issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company held by each beneficial owner has been calculated on the basis of (i) 34,351,494 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding on March 1, 2018, and (ii) all shares of Common Stock underlying equity awards that are held by such beneficial owner and are exercisable within 60 days of February 16, 2018.

⁽³⁾ Gregory B. Brown was granted 265 restricted stock units and 360 stock options on October 31, 2017, in connection with his appointment to the Board of Directors, all of which will vest on April 31, 2018.

⁽⁴⁾ The number of shares reported includes 46,250 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's stock option plans.

The number of shares reported includes 5,016 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.

- (6) The number of shares reported includes 3,190 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
- ⁽⁷⁾ The number of shares reported includes 3,373 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
- (8) The number of shares reported includes 1,893 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
- (9) The number of shares reported includes 31,250 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's stock option plans.

- (10) The number of shares reported includes 15,564 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
- (11) The number of shares reported includes 15,668 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
- (12) The number of shares reported includes 257,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's stock option plans.
- (13) The number of shares reported includes 37,500 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's stock option plans.
- (14) The number of shares reported includes 22,532 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
- (15) The number of shares reported includes 9,510 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's stock option plans.
- ⁽¹⁶⁾The number of shares reported includes 15,564 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
- The number of shares reported includes 464,810 shares issuable upon exercise of options granted under the Company's stock options plans.

PROPOSAL NO. 1

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of ten members. At this Annual Meeting, eight directors will be nominated for election to hold office until the 2019 Annual Meeting and until their successors shall be elected and qualified or until the director's earlier death, resignation or removal. Peter G. Tombros and Rosina B. Dixon, M.D, directors of the Company since 2002 and 1995 respectively, will not be nominated for election at the Annual Meeting, in accordance with the Company's retirement policy for non-employee directors.

Each of the nominees listed below is currently serving as a director of the Company and has consented to serve as a director for an additional term if elected. The Company knows of no reason why any of the nominees named herein would be unable to serve for the terms indicated. In the event, however, that any such nominee should, prior to the election, become unable to serve as a director, unless the Board decides to decrease the size of the Board, the proxy will be voted for such substitute nominee as the Board shall propose.

To be elected, each nominee for director requires a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting unless the election is contested, in which case directors are elected by a plurality vote. For purposes of electing directors, a "majority of the votes cast" means that the number of votes cast "for" a nominee exceeds the number of votes cast "against" that nominee. The Governance Committee has established procedures under which any current director who is not elected (because the number of votes cast against such director's candidacy exceeds the number of votes cast in favor of that candidacy) shall offer to tender his or her resignation to the Board. In such case, the Governance Committee will make a recommendation to the Board on whether to accept or reject the offer to resign, or whether other action should be taken. The Board will act on the Governance Committee's recommendation and publicly disclose its decision and the rationale behind it within 90 days from the date of the certification of the election results.

An uncontested election of directors is not considered a "routine" item under the NYSE rules. As a result, brokers holding shares beneficially owned by their clients will not have the ability to cast votes with respect to the election of directors unless they have received instructions from the beneficial owner of the shares. It is therefore important that you provide instructions to your broker if your shares are held by a broker so that your vote with respect to the election of directors is counted. Abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted in connection with the election of directors.

The Board recommends a vote FOR the election of the eight (8) nominees named below.

Nominees for Election to Serve as Directors Serving

until the 2019 Annual Meeting

The Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines establish criteria for membership on the Board. Under these criteria, the Governance Committee seeks to identify a diverse group of candidates for the Board. These candidates should possess the highest personal and professional ethics, integrity and values and be committed to representing the long-term interests of the stockholders. While neither the Board nor the Governance Committee has a formal policy regarding diversity in evaluating candidates, the Governance Committee seeks to select nominees with a broad diversity of experience, professions, skills, geographic representations and backgrounds. The skills and backgrounds of the nominees should include, among other things, experience in making decisions, a track record of competent judgment, the ability to function rationally and objectively, and experience in different businesses and professions. The Governance Committee does not assign specific weight to particular criteria and not all criteria apply to every candidate. The Board believes that as a group the Board consists of a sufficiently diverse group in

terms of experience, knowledge and abilities to allow the Board to fulfill its responsibilities to the stockholders and the Company.

The following sets forth, with respect to the eight (8) persons who have been nominated by the Board for election at this Annual Meeting, certain information concerning their positions with the Company and principal outside occupations and other directorships held. Except as otherwise disclosed herein, none of the corporations or organizations listed below is a parent, subsidiary or other affiliate of the Company. Based on the experiences, attributes and skills of each of the Board's nominees set forth below, which exemplify the sought-after characteristics described above, the Board has concluded that each nominee possesses the appropriate qualifications to serve as a director of the Company.

Gregory B. Brown, M.D. (64). Director since 2017. Member of the Audit and Regulatory Affairs Committees of the Board. In 2007, Dr. Brown co-founded HC Royalty Partners, a healthcare-focused private asset management firm investing in biopharmaceutical and medical products. He has been Vice Chairman of the HC Royalty and Chairman of the Strategic Advisory Board of the firm since 2016, and has been involved in more than \$1 billion of royalty financings. Dr. Brown is also a Senior Advisor to Back Bay Health Care Capital, a venture capital firm with a focus in European life sciences.

Dr Brown currently serves as Chairman of the Board of Caladrius Biosciences, Inc. a clinical stage development company focusing on cell therapy products in development based on multiple technology platforms and targeting autoimmune and select cardiology indications. He is also a member of the Board and Audit Committee of Faron Pharmaceuticals, Oy, as well as a member of the Board, Audit, Governance and Product Selection Committees of Aquestive Therapeutics, a specialty pharmaceutical company leveraging its proprietary PharmFilm technology to deliver drugs. Dr. Brown also serves on the Board of Vanderbilt Clinical S.a.r.l. He holds a B.A, from Yale, an M.D. from SUNY Upstate Medical Center and a M.B.A from Harvard Business School. Dr. Brown has gained a wealth of knowledge as an investor in the healthcare sector, making him uniquely qualified to be a member of our Board.

Claes Glassell (66). Director since 2016. Member of the Audit and Governance Committees of the Board. Mr. Glassell serves as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of LSNE Contract Manufacturing since May 2017. He was Chief Executive Officer of CMC Biologics, a contract manufacturing organization focused on biologic pharmaceuticals from 2011 through 2015. From 2004 through 2011, Mr. Glassell was Chief Executive officer of Cerus Corp., a publically held medical device company. Before joining Cerus Corp., Mr. Glassell spent over eight years at Cambrex Corporation as President and Chief Operating Officer. From 1989 through 1994, Mr. Glassell was President and CEO of Nobel Chemicals and Senior Vice President of Nobel Industries.

Mr. Glassell has more than 25 years of industry experience, with primary focuses on production of biologic and chemical active pharmaceutical ingredients, cell therapy services, preclinical and clinical development of cancer immunotherapy, and commercial medical devices and consumer goods, giving Mr. Glassell special insight into the day-to-day operations and strategic development of life sciences companies. He has also served on several life science company boards, including Vitrolife AB, Cellartis AB, Nobel Chemicals, Berol Nobel, Cambrex, Cerus, CMC Biologics, Swedish American Chamber of Commerce, and Swedish Chemical Industry Association. This unique combination of extensive operating and board experience, including his long service as a senior executive of our company, makes Mr. Glassell exceptionally qualified to be a member of our Board.

Louis J. Grabowsky (age 66). Director since 2015. Member of the Audit Committee and Regulatory Affairs Committee of the Board. Mr. Grabowsky is a co-founder and principal of Juniper Capital Management, a financial sponsor that provides capital to high-growth potential but under-resourced entrepreneurial companies based in the United States. Before founding Juniper Capital Management in October of 2014, Mr. Grabowsky was a partner with Grant Thornton LLP, an accounting firm, where he served as the Chief Operating Officer from 2009 to 2013. Prior to Grant Thornton, Mr. Grabowsky served for a total of 27 years in various positions with Arthur Andersen LLP, including 17 years as a partner. Mr. Grabowsky is currently a member of the Board of Directors of Griffon Corporation (NYSE: GFF), Reviron Consulting, a privately held company and several academic, civic and charitable organizations. Mr. Grabowsky served as a Director of ClubCorp Holdings from 2015, until its acquisition by Apollo Global Management LLC in September 2017. He served on the Audit and Nominating & Governance Committees, and chaired the Audit Committee during his last year of service.

Mr. Grabowsky brings extensive financial expertise and wide-ranging business competencies to the Board. His experience overseeing risk assessment, accounting and financial reporting for public and other life sciences companies globally provides valuable experience as a member of the Audit Committee.

Bernhard Hampl (68). Director since 2016. Member of the Regulatory Affairs Committee, Dr. Hampl is the President of BKH Pharma Services, a pharmaceutical consultancy firm. From 1996 to 2005 Dr. Hampl was President and CEO of Eon Labs, Inc. in NY, a company specializing in the development, manufacturing and marketing of generic pharmaceuticals. Dr. Hampl currently serves as Co-Chairman of the Board of Softbox Sytems LTD, a UK based company specializing in cold chain shipping. He is also a member of the Board of SiO2 Medical, as well as a member of the scientific advisory Board of Formycon AG, a biotech company in Munich, Germany, and the CEO- Advisory Board of Great Point Partners, an investment firm in Greenwich, CT. Dr. Hampl is also an independent consultant and advisor to Advent International, a global private equity firm. Dr. Hampl attended the School of Pharmacy of the Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany, and is a registered pharmacist who holds a PhD in Pharmaceutical Chemistry from the same university.

Dr. Hampl brings to the Board over twenty years of experience as an executive in the pharmaceutical industry. His extensive experience in senior management positions and advisory roles, as well as his demonstrated business judgment make Dr. Hampl a valuable member of the Board.

Kathryn Rudie Harrigan (age 67). Director since 1994. Member of the Audit and Regulatory Affairs Committees of the Board. In 1993, Dr. Harrigan became the first Henry R. Kravis Professor of Business Leadership at Columbia University Business School. Dr. Harrigan was previously Professor, Management Division of the Columbia University Business School and Academic Director of the Jerome A. Chazen Institute for International Business and Academic Director of the Strategy Research Center, all at Columbia University. Dr. Harrigan is a founding member of the Strategic Management Society. She has taught in several executive development programs for Columbia Business School, for Management Centre Europe (London and Brussels), Frost & Sullivan (London and Frankfurt), and Business Week Executive Programs (Amsterdam and several U.S. cities). She has taught in the Executive MBA Programs of Seoul National University, Ben-Gurion University, St. Gallen University (Switzerland), and University of Cagliari. In 1989, Dr. Harrigan was elected a Fellow of the Academy of Management and has served on its Board of Governors as well as the Advisory Board of Ronin Development Corporation. She has written for and has served on the Board of Editors of various journals including the Strategic Management Journal, Academy of Management Review (Consulting Editor), Academy of Management Journal, Columbia Journal of World Business, Academy of Management Executive, Journal of Business Strategy, and Journal of Engineering and Technology Management.

Dr. Harrigan's significant academic experiences include educating graduate level students in international and domestic business at top tier business schools and teaching executive development programs in several U.S. cities, the U.K., Germany, Switzerland, and India, earning her the distinction of being named the first Henry R. Kravis Professor of Business Leadership at Columbia University Business School. The depth and breadth of Dr. Harrigan's exposure to complex business issues worldwide makes her a skilled advisor.

Ilan Kaufthal (age 70). Director since formation of the Company in 1983. Chairman of the Compensation Committee and Member of the Audit Committee of the Board. Since 2010 Mr. Kaufthal has been Chairman of East Wind Advisors, a broker dealer. Mr. Kaufthal currently serves as a member of the Boards of Directors of Tronox, Inc., a publicly traded producer of titanium dioxide pigment based in Stamford, CT., Quinpario Acquisition Corporation 2, a company formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses, Edmunds.com, a private company and POOF®-Slinky Inc., a branded childrens' consumer products business. He was Vice Chairman of Investment Banking at Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. from May 2000 until June 2008. Prior to joining Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., Mr. Kaufthal was with Schroder & Co. Incorporated as Vice Chairman and head of mergers and acquisitions for thirteen years. Prior thereto, he was with NL Industries, Inc., a firm in the chemicals and petroleum services businesses, as its Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.

With his extensive background in the investment banking community coupled with his business experience as the Chief Financial Officer of NL Industries, Mr. Kaufthal brings a unique perspective to the Board. Mr. Kaufthal's extensive investment banking experience makes him an invaluable advisor, particularly in the context of merger and acquisition activities.

Steven M. Klosk (age 61). Director since 2008. Mr. Klosk joined Cambrex in 1992 and was elected President and Chief Executive Officer of Cambrex and became a member of the Board in May 2008. In 2007 he was appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Cambrex and assumed the responsibility of the pharmaceutical business. Between 2005 and 2007, Mr. Klosk served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of the Pharma and BioPharmaceutical Business Unit. Between 1992 and 2005, he held positions of increasing responsibility including Executive Vice President-Administration. Mr. Klosk currently serves on the Board of Directors of Caladrius (formerly known as NeoStem, Inc.), a publicly traded cell therapy company.

Having served in a variety of increasingly senior positions with the Company, including President and Chief Executive Officer, Executive Vice President-Administration and Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Klosk has a unique perspective on the day-to-day operations and strategic development of Cambrex. In these positions, Mr. Klosk has been responsible for both the operations of the Company and the overall human resources decisions giving him insight into the talent management process as well as the business and operational functions of the organization.

Shlomo Yanai (age 65). Director since 2012. Non-Executive Chairman of the Board and Member of the Compensation and Governance Committees of the Board. Mr. Yanai served from 2007 until mid-2012 as President and Chief Executive Officer of Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd., a global generic pharmaceutical leader and one of the top 15 global pharmaceutical companies in the world. From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Yanai was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Makhteshim Agan Industries, a leading global agro-chemicals company. Mr. Yanai also served as a member of the Board of Directors of Bank Leumi Le-Israel, Israel's second largest bank, LycoRed Natural Products Industries and I.T.L. Optronics Ltd. Until his retirement from the Israeli Army in 2001 at the rank of Major General, Mr. Yanai was the head of the Strategy Planning Branch of General Headquarters of the Israel Defense Forces.

Currently, Mr. Yanai is a member of the Board of Governors of Technion, the Israel Institute of Technology and the Weizmann Institute. Mr. Yanai is also Chairman of the Board of Directors of Protalix BioTherapeutics, a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of proprietary recombinant therapeutic proteins. He is also an honorary member of the Board of The Institute for Policy and Strategy of the Interdisciplinary Center (IDC), Herzliya.

Mr. Yanai brings global operating experience in the life-science and pharmaceutical industry, including as Chief Executive Officer of one of the largest generic pharmaceutical companies in the world and a leading global agro-chemicals company. Mr. Yanai brings a global perspective to the Board, incorporating his industry and leadership experience. This unique combination of global life-science operating experience, board experience and outstanding achievement and experience in his military career positions him well to make truly valuable contributions to the Board and to management.

Company Policies and Procedures related to Review, Approval and Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

Pursuant to the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board expects Cambrex directors, officers and employees to act ethically at all times and to adhere to the Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, including the Company's policy on Conflicts of Interest. A "conflict of interest" occurs when an individual's personal interests interfere in any way (or even appear to interfere) with the interests of the Company. A conflict situation can arise when a director, officer or employee takes actions or has interests that may make it difficult to perform his or her work objectively and effectively. Conflicts of interest also arise when a director, officer or employee, or a member of his or her family, receives improper personal benefits as a result of his or her position in the Company.

A potential conflict of interest with respect to a proposed transaction is required to be reported to the Company's General Counsel and Chief Executive Officer and the Board's Governance Committee. The Governance Committee

will evaluate the circumstances surrounding the potential conflict of interest and recommend action to the full Board, which will consider any such recommendation. The Board is responsible for the ultimate determination as to whether the transaction giving rise to the potential conflict of interest can proceed.

In addition, the Audit Committee is responsible for the review and approval of related-person transactions that are required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company's directors and officers and persons who own more than ten percent of the Company's Common Stock to file reports of ownership and transactions in the Company's Common Stock with the SEC. Such directors, officers and ten percent stockholders are also required to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based on a review of the copies of such forms received by the Company, and written representations from the Company's directors and officers that no other reports were required, the Company believes that all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its directors, officers and ten percent stockholders were complied with during the 2017 fiscal year, except for one late filing on Form 4 by Mr. Klosk relating to a single transaction.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for directing the management of the business and affairs of the Company. The Board holds regular meetings five times each year and holds additional special meetings as necessary. During 2017 the Board held seven meetings. Pursuant to Cambrex's Corporate Governance Guidelines, directors are expected to attend board meetings, stockholder meetings and meetings of committees on which they serve, and to spend the time needed and meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their responsibilities. The Board recognizes that occasional meetings may need to be scheduled on short notice when the participation of a director is not possible and that conflicts may arise that may prevent a director from attending a regularly scheduled meeting. The Board expects, however, that each director will make every reasonable effort to keep absences to a minimum. Although participation by telephone conference or other communications equipment is allowed, personal attendance is encouraged. In 2017, each of our then current directors attended all Board meetings and all meetings of Board committees on which they served. All of our then current directors attended the Company's annual meeting of stockholders in April of 2017.

Our Board has affirmatively determined, after considering all of the relevant facts and circumstances, that all of the directors, other than our President and Chief Executive Officer, Steven M. Klosk, are independent from our management under the standards set forth in the Company's Independence Standards for Directors, which was adopted by the Board in 2004 and is available on the Investor portion of the Company's website (www.cambrex.com) and which incorporates the independence standards required by the NYSE. This means that none of the independent directors have any direct or indirect material relationship with the Company, either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company. As a result, the Company has a majority of independent directors on the Board as required by the listing standards of the NYSE. The Board has also adopted the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which is applicable to all directors, officers and employees of the Company, including the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the principal accounting officer. This policy can also be found on the Investor portion of the Company's website (www.cambrex.com).

Independent directors have regularly scheduled executive sessions in which they meet without the presence of members of management. These executive sessions occur before or after each regularly scheduled meeting of our Board and may also occur in conjunction with special meetings. Shlomo Yanai leads these executive sessions as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board.

Board Leadership Structure

As described in our Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board currently believes that the positions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board should be separated in order to provide clear separation of leadership of the Board from that of Company management, and the Board has separated such roles accordingly. Since April 2014, Shlomo Yanai has served as our Non-Executive Chairman of the Board.

Risk Oversight

The role of the Board in managing risk at the Company is to have ultimate oversight for the risk management process. Management has day-to-day responsibility for the identification and control of risks facing the Company including timely identifying, monitoring, mitigating and managing those risks that could have a material impact on the Company. Further, management has the responsibility to report these risks as they arise to the Board and its committees and to the Company's auditors. In addition, the Board has delegated risk oversight to each of its committees within their areas of responsibility. In particular, the Audit Committee focuses on financial risk, including internal controls covering the safeguarding of assets and the accuracy and completeness of financial reporting. As Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, Ms. Hanley is responsible for implementing the Company's compliance and ethics initiatives and updating the Audit Committee as to the effectiveness of those initiatives. The Compensation Committee sets compensation programs for management that take into consideration alignment of management compensation with building stockholder value while avoiding compensation policies that reward excessive risk taking, including adoption of a clawback policy with respect to its executive compensation plans. The Governance Committee oversees the annual Board self-evaluation and director nomination processes in order to ensure a diverse and well balanced Board and provides input to the Board related to the make-up of the Company's senior management team. Finally, the Regulatory Affairs Committee manages risk related to regulatory compliance and provides oversight with regard to the Company's compliance with regulatory requirements including Food and Drug Administration and Drug Enforcement Agency requirements, environmental, safety and health requirements at all of its manufacturing facilities as well as regulatory public policy issues facing the Company. These committees meet regularly and report their findings to the Board throughout the year. The Company also maintains insurance policies that would reimburse the Company for a wide range of potential losses that the Company could incur in due course. The Company regularly reviews the levels, terms and conditions of this coverage to ensure they are prudent given the nature and size of the Company's operations. Management periodically reports to the Audit and Regulatory Affairs Committees regarding the review of the Company's insurance coverage.

Stockholder Communications with our Board

The Company is committed to providing stockholders and other interested persons with an open line of communication for bringing issues of concern to the Company's non-management directors.

Any stockholder or interested person may communicate with the Company's non-management directors as a group by sending a communication to the Board, c/o Corporate Secretary, Cambrex Corporation, One Meadowlands Plaza, 15th Floor, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073. All communications will be reviewed by the Company's Corporate Secretary who will send such communications to the non-management directors unless the Corporate Secretary determines that the communication (i) does not relate to the business or affairs of the Company or the function of the Board or its committees, (ii) relates to insignificant matters that do not warrant the non-management directors' attention or (iii) is not otherwise appropriate for delivery to the non-management directors.

The non-management directors who receive such communication will have discretion to determine the handling of such communication, and if appropriate, respond to the person sending the communication and determine disclosure, which shall be consistent with the Company's policies and procedures and applicable law regarding the disclosure of information.

The Board has established four standing committees: the Regulatory Affairs Committee, the Governance Committee, the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee. Each committee has a charter that has been adopted by such committee and approved by the Board. Printable versions of the charters of such committees as well as the Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are available on our website (www.cambrex.com), under the "Governance" link of the "Investors" section. The Company will also provide any of the foregoing information

in print without charge upon written request to the Corporate Secretary, Cambrex Corporation, One Meadowlands Plaza, 15th Floor, East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073.

REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

Rosina B. Dixon, M.D., Chairperson

Gregory B. Brown, M.D,

Louis J. Grabowsky

Bernhard Hampl

Kathryn R. Harrigan

Regulatory Affairs Committee

The Regulatory Affairs Committee, which currently consists of five independent directors, oversees the Company's compliance with various Food and Drug Administration and Drug Enforcement Agency regulatory requirements and environmental, health and safety affairs. Each year the Regulatory Affairs Committee develops a calendar-year annual schedule for the coming year. The Chair reports the Regulatory Affairs Committee's actions and recommendations to the full Board following each Regulatory Affairs Committee meeting. The Regulatory Affairs Committee held four meetings during 2017. Dr. Hampl and Dr. Brown joined the Regulatory Affairs Committee in January and October 2017 respectively.

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Shlomo Yanai, Chairperson

Claes Glassell

Ilan Kaufthal

Peter G. Tombros

Governance Committee

The Governance Committee, which consists of four independent directors, is responsible for, among other things, (i) reviewing the composition of the Board to assure that the proper skills and experience are represented on the Board, (ii) identifying candidates qualified to become Board members, and recommending to the Board the nominees to stand for election as directors to the Board at annual stockholder meetings and candidates for newly created directorships and vacancies on the Board, (iii) overseeing the annual evaluation of the Board and management and (iv) developing and reviewing corporate governance principles and recommending changes as necessary. The Charter of the Governance Committee has been adopted by the committee and approved by the Board. Each year the Governance Committee develops a calendar-year annual schedule for the coming year. The Chair reports the Governance Committee held three meetings in 2017.

Consideration of Director Nominees

Director Qualifications

The Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines set forth Board membership criteria. As described above, under these criteria, the Governance Committee seeks to identify a diverse group of candidates for the Board who possess the highest personal and professional ethics, integrity and values and are committed to representing the long-term interests of the stockholders. The committee conducts an annual review of the Corporate Governance Guidelines and a self-assessment of the Board. As part of such review, if necessary, the Governance Committee has the discretion to recommend to the Board a modification to the Board membership criteria and make up.

Directors must be willing to devote sufficient time to carrying out their duties and responsibilities effectively and should be committed to serve on the Board for an extended period of time. In general, directors should not serve on more than four other boards of public companies in addition to the Cambrex Board, but current positions in excess of these limits may be maintained unless the Board determines that doing so would impair the director's service on the Cambrex Board.

Identifying and Evaluating Nominees for Directors

The Governance Committee utilizes a variety of methods for identifying and evaluating nominees for director. The Governance Committee regularly assesses the appropriate size of the Board, and whether any vacancies on the Board are expected due to retirement or otherwise. In the event that vacancies are anticipated, or otherwise arise, and the Governance Committee concludes that the vacancy should be filled, it will consider various candidates for the vacancy. Candidates may come to the attention of the Governance Committee through current Board members, professional search firms, stockholders or other persons. These candidates are evaluated at regular or special meetings of the Governance Committee, and may be considered at any point during the year. The Governance Committee also considers properly submitted stockholder nominations for candidates for the Board. In addition to the standards and qualifications set out in the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Governance Committee also considers such other relevant factors as it deems appropriate, including the current composition of the Board, experience with the Company, the balance of management and independent directors, the need for Audit Committee or other expertise and the evaluations of other prospective nominees. There are no differences in the manner in which the Governance Committee evaluates nominees for director based on whether or not the nominee is recommended by a stockholder.

Stockholder Nominees

The Governance Committee will consider nominees recommended by stockholders in accordance with the Company's bylaws. Such recommendations for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders should be sent to the Corporate Secretary of the Company in accordance with the procedures described under the heading "Stockholder Proposals for 2019." Nominees recommended by stockholders in accordance with these procedures receive the same consideration as any other proposed nominees.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Peter G. Tombros, Chairperson

Gregory B. Brown, M.D.

Claes Glassell

Louis Grabowsky

Kathryn R. Harrigan

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of five independent directors. The Board has determined that each member of the Audit Committee (i) is independent within the meaning of the rules and regulations of the SEC, the NYSE listing standards and the Company's Independence Standards for Directors; and (ii) satisfies the financial literacy requirements of the NYSE listing standards. The Board has also determined that Mr. Peter G. Tombros, Audit Committee Chairperson and an independent director, is an "audit committee financial expert," as that term is defined by current SEC rules.

The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee (i) the integrity of the Company's financial reporting process; (ii) the Company's systems of internal accounting and financial controls; (iii) the annual independent audit of the Company's financial statements; (iv) the independent registered public accountant's qualifications and independence; and (v) the Company's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee's role is one of oversight and it recognizes that the Company's management is responsible for preparing the Company's financial statements and that the Company's independent registered public accountants are responsible for auditing those financial statements.

Each year the Audit Committee develops a calendar-year annual schedule for the coming year. The Chair reports the Audit Committee's actions and recommendations to the full Board following each Audit Committee meeting. The Audit Committee met individually with management, with BDO, the Company's independent registered public accountants, and with the Company's outsourced internal auditors, as appropriate. The Audit Committee met four times in 2017.

The Audit Committee reviewed and had discussions with Company management and BDO regarding the quarterly and annual financial statements, including a discussion of accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant judgments, and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and had discussions with BDO regarding the matters required to be discussed by AS 1301. Further, the Audit Committee received the written disclosures and the letter from BDO required by Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Rule 3526 (Independence Discussions with Audit Committees) and has discussed such disclosures and letter with representatives of BDO regarding its independence.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.

Peter G. Tombros, Chairperson

Gregory B. Brown, M.D.

Claes Glassell

Louis Grabowsky

Kathryn R. Harrigan

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Ilan Kaufthal, Chairperson

Rosina B. Dixon, M.D.

Shlomo Yanai

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee, which consists of three independent directors, conducts reviews of the Company's general and executive compensation policies and strategies and oversees and evaluates the Company's overall compensation structure and programs. The Board has determined that each member of the Compensation Committee is (i) independent within the meaning of the rules and regulations of the SEC, NYSE listing standards and the Company's Independence Standards for Directors; and (ii) is a "non-employee director" for purposes of Rule 16b-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Each year the Compensation Committee develops a calendar-year annual schedule for the coming year. The Chair reports the Compensation Committee's actions and recommendations to the full Board following each Compensation Committee meeting. The Compensation Committee held six meetings during 2017.

The Compensation Committee's role is to work with executive management in developing a compensation philosophy. The Compensation Committee determines compensation for the President and Chief Executive Officer and reviews and approves compensation and bonus programs for all senior executives. Compensation recommendations for senior executives other than the President and Chief Executive Officer are initiated by the President and Chief Executive Officer for discussion and decision by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee also oversees the Company's general employee benefit programs, including the Company's employee equity plans. The Compensation Committee also annually conducts a self-evaluation of its own performance for the prior year in order to encourage continuous improvement. For its self-evaluation the Compensation Committee referred to materials provided by the Governance Committee. The Compensation Committee conducts these reviews and the self-evaluation annually.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The members of the Compensation Committee during 2017 were Rosina B. Dixon, Ilan Kaufthal and Shlomo Yanai, each of whom is a non-employee independent director.. No member of the Compensation Committee had any direct or indirect material interest in a transaction of the Company or a business relationship with the Company, in each case that would require disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the following Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management and, based on such review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement.

This Report is provided by the following non-employee independent directors who comprise the Compensation Committee.

Ilan Kaufthal, Chairperson

Rosina B. Dixon, MD

Shlomo Yanai

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following is a discussion and analysis of our executive compensation program and compensation decisions made for the fiscal year December 31, 2017. This discussion relates to the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table included within the Compensation and Discussion Analysis section of the Proxy Statement. We refer to these officers as the "Named Executive Officers."

The following discussion includes statements regarding performance targets with respect to our executive compensation program.

Executive Summary

The aim of our executive compensation program is to deliver competitive compensation and benefit plans that support our objective to attract, motivate and retain high-quality executives and reward them for performance that generates long-term shareholder value. We endeavor to reward our Named Executive Officers equitably and competitively through an appropriately structured mix of base salary, short-term and long-term incentives, employee benefits, career growth, and development opportunities. A significant portion of our executive compensation program takes the form of incentive compensation with a direct relationship to the Company's operating and share price performance. Our belief is that this balance of compensation and development components serves to drive company performance and promotes executive retention.

Our Named Executive Officers for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, were the following individuals:

Steven M. Klosk, President and Chief Executive Officer

Tom Vadaketh, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Gregory P. Sargen, Executive Vice President, Corporate Development and Strategy

Shawn P. Cavanagh, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

Samantha M. Hanley, Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Objectives of our Executive Compensation Program

We seek through our executive compensation program to attract, motivate and retain talented executives with the requisite skills and abilities to enable the Company to achieve superior results. In order to promote achievement of these objectives, we do the following:

Offer a Competitive Compensation Package. We seek to provide a total compensation package, including base salary, cash incentives and long-term incentive awards, which is competitive relative to our peer group for the markets in which Cambrex competes for executive talent.

Reward performance. We place a strong emphasis on results, and therefore a significant portion of our executives' compensation package is performance-based compensation, including cash incentives and long-term incentive awards, that is designed to reward executives for achievement of the Company's goals, as well as the executives' contributions to the achievement of those goals. Our compensation philosophy is to reward decision making that achieves superior operating results.

Align the interests of our executives with those of our shareholders. A significant portion of our compensation program is in the form of long-term incentive awards, which serve to align the interests of our executives with those of our shareholders by rewarding executives for increasing shareholder value. Our executive compensation program is designed to foster a culture of ownership and accountability, enabling our executives to share meaningfully in long-term increases in shareholder value.

Highlights of our Corporate Governance Practices

To promote robust corporate governance practices, our executive compensation program incorporates the following key features:

Pay-for-Performance: A substantial proportion of our executive compensation program is tied to performance and therefore, is at risk and not guaranteed. Actual earned compensation requires attainment of specified Company performance targets and is determined based on the executive's performance against applicable Company performance objectives.

Balanced Compensation Design: Our executive compensation program is designed to support the Company's business strategy and to incentivize our executives to act in alignment with our shareholders' interests and to reward them for outcomes that benefit our shareholders.

Peer Group Selection: Cambrex conducts an annual review of our compensation peer group as a means to ensure that the number of peer companies is appropriate and each peer company continues to be similar to Cambrex in annual revenue and industry and that our selected peers are competitors for customers and/or executive talent.

Compensation Benchmarking: Cambrex performs benchmarking exercises on a recurring basis to make certain that its executive compensation program offers an appropriately balanced mix of fixed versus variable compensation and to make sure that our overall compensation levels are in line with those offered by companies with which we compete for customers and/or executive talent.

Proactive Management of Share Utilization: During the course of the year, Cambrex routinely reviews and projects share utilization to make certain that sound overhang and annual run rate levels are in place. This data is shared with the Compensation Committee on a regular basis for the evaluation of current levels of dilution and to understand the effect of dilution as a factor in the future design of the Company's equity program.

Robust Hedging and Pledging Policy: Under the Company's Securities Transactions Policy, all persons covered by the policy (including each of our Named Executive Officers) are prohibited from engaging in short sales with respect to shares of our Common Stock or derivatives transactions with respect to our securities (including buying or selling, put, call or other options, other than under a Company benefit or incentive plan). In addition, persons covered by the policy (including each of our Named Executive Officers) are prohibited from pledging the Company's securities as collateral for a loan or holding the Company's securities in a margin account.

Executive Stock Ownership Guidelines: The stock ownership guidelines, which apply to our most senior executive officers, promote the alignment of the long-term interests of the covered executive officers with the long-term interests of the Company's stockholders, reduce incentives for risk-taking that could be motivated principally by short-term share price appreciation, and further promote our commitment to sound corporate governance. The stock ownership guidelines provide that our President and Chief Executive Officer must own shares of the Company's Common Stock valued at three times his base salary and each of our Executive Vice Presidents must own shares of the Company's Common Stock valued at one times his base salary. Each covered executive officer is required to meet the stock ownership guidelines within five years of the date of the policy's adoption (i.e., by February 23, 2021) or five years from the date an employee is covered by the policy, whichever is later. As of February 16, 2018, each of our covered executive officers (other than Mr. Vadaketh, who began his employment with us on January 20, 2017) owned shares with an aggregate value that exceeded his applicable threshold under these stock ownership guidelines. Determination of Competitive Compensation

The Compensation Committee determines the compensation of our President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as the compensation of our other Named Executive Officers. Our President and Chief Executive Officer provides recommendations to the Compensation Committee on the compensation of the Named Executive Officers (other than for himself), and consults with the Compensation Committee regarding such recommendations. Our lead human resources executive assists our President and Chief Executive Officer in preparing recommendations to the Compensation Committee regarding key elements of our executive compensation program. Further, the human resources department assembles compensation information relating to the Named Executive Officers, including

information about the compensation practices at our peer group companies, for the Compensation Committee's consideration.

In determining compensation, the Compensation Committee reviews each Named Executive Officer's total compensation package, including salaries, target annual and long-term incentives, retirement benefits, severance arrangements and change of control arrangements. The Committee also evaluates each Named Executive Officer's contributions to the Company's performance and benchmarking data, economic and market conditions. As part of establishing compensation policies and making compensation determinations, the Compensation Committee also considers feedback received from our shareholders, which includes the results of the advisory votes at our most recent annual meeting. The Compensation Committee considered the favorable results of the 2016 shareholder advisory vote on executive compensation as one of several factors in maintaining the overall design of our executive compensation program for 2017. As supported by our stockholders, the Board has determined to hold a vote annually on our executive compensation program until the next frequency vote, which is being held in connection with the Annual Meeting. In connection with the Annual Meeting, the Board has recommended that our stockholders approve, on an advisory basis, continued annual voting by stockholders on our executive compensation program.

Peer Group Comparison Data

For 2017, the Company's human resources department updated benchmark data that had been prepared for the Compensation Committee in 2016. We use Kenexa's CompAnalyst ExecComp system, which is utilized by many independent compensation consultants, to determine an appropriate peer group, analyze executive compensation, and facilitate the compilation and review of benchmark data from companies in our peer group. This process serves to help ensure that our executive compensation program is competitive and in line with market practice among our peer group.

After considering a variety of factors, including the updated compensation information prepared by the Company, as well as with input from the President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Compensation Committee determined the applicable 2017 benchmarking targets. For 2017, the Compensation Committee concluded that for each of our Named Executive Officers it was appropriate to evaluate total direct compensation targets (i.e., salary, annual cash incentives and long-term incentives) against the compensation of similarly situated executives at companies within a specified peer group. The Compensation Committee considers the executive's experience, qualifications, historical performance and other factors when determining whether compensation targets should be below, at, or above the peer group median for each Named Executive Officer. The peer group for 2017 consisted of the following 16 publicly-traded life sciences companies that are similar in size to the Company (that is, within a 2016 revenue range of \$244M to \$1,120M with the median revenue being \$531M), and are competitors for customers and/or executive talent:

Aceto Corporation Genomic Health Inc
Acorda Therapeutics Inc. Impax Laboratories Inc.
Akorn Inc. Ionis Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Albany Molecular Research, Inc. Lannett Company, Inc.
Balchem Luminex Corporation
Bio-Techne Corporation Omnicell, Inc.

Depomed Inc. Prestige Brands Holdings, Inc.

Emergent Biosolutions Inc. PDL BioPharma

Composition of the 2017 peer group remained unchanged from the peer group used in 2016 with the exception of the following: Cepheid was removed due to its acquisition by Danaher Corporation and Spectrum Pharmawas removed due to its revenue range falling below ISS guidelines for peer group revenue criteria. In accordance with ISS guidelines for a company our size, and in keeping with our criteria for peer selection of publicly-traded life sciences companies that are similar in size to the Company who may be competitors for business and or talent, we added Impax

Laboratories, Ionis Pharmaceuticals, and PDL BioPharma to bring our total number of peers to 16.

Elements of Compensation

The following summarizes the various elements of the total compensation package of our executives, including the Named Executive Officers:

Base Salary

The Compensation Committee reviews the base salaries of our Named Executive Officers annually to ensure, subject to any applicable contractual limitations, that they are competitive and fairly compensate the Named Executive Officers for their roles with the Company. The Compensation Committee generally targets a base salary level for each Named Executive Officer at or near the median base salary of similarly situated executives of our peer group of companies, but also considers, on a subjective basis, the Named Executive Officer's effectiveness in his or her role, the overall nature, level and complexity of his or her responsibilities, and his or her tenure in the role. The Compensation Committee also considers the recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer (other than for his own base salary).

Based on individual and company performance, and informed by executive compensation benchmarking of our peer groups, the Compensation Committee approved base salary increases for the Named Executive Officers on January 25, 2017, effective February 1, 2017 (except for Ms. Hanley whose salary increase was effective January 1, 2017, and Mr. Vadaketh, who began his employment with us on January 20, 2017). Mr. Klosk's base salary was increased from \$650,000 to \$725,000, Mr. Cavanagh's base salary was increased from \$500,000 to \$550,000, Mr. Sargen's base salary was increased from \$470,000 to \$500,000, and Ms. Hanley's base salary was increased from \$310,000 to \$325,500.

Performance-Based Compensation

Annual performance-based compensation and long-term incentive awards comprise a significant portion of the compensation we pay to our Named Executive Officers. These compensation components are essential to our pay-for-performance philosophy, which seeks to base compensation on (i) the level of achievement of the Company's strategic and financial goals (as well as a Named Executive Officer's contributions towards the achievement of those goals), and (ii) the creation of shareholder value over the long-term.

Annual Cash Incentive Awards

Each year the Compensation Committee, in consultation with the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, establishes performance metrics and related targets for the Company's Named Executive Officers. At year end, the attainment of results, measured against the Named Executive Officers' targets, is reviewed and the cash incentive award is approved by the Compensation Committee.

The following table reflects the minimum, target and maximum levels for the Company-based performance metrics used in calculating 2017 incentive awards for each of our Named Executive Officers:

(\$ in millions)								
P	erformance Metric	Minimun	1	Targe	et	Maximu	m	Weigh	nt
F	Revenue Growth	7	%	9	%	11	%	30	%
E	EBITDA	\$ 168.0		\$171	0.	\$ 174.0		50	%
F	ree Cash Flow	\$ 50.0		\$55.0	C	\$ 60.0		20	%

The "Revenue Growth" metrics set forth in the table above were based on the Company's 2016 revenue amount, excluding, in each case, the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates. Using Revenue Growth as a metric motivates executives to execute on strategies and policies and to make good operating decisions to maximize growth over the course of the year. "EBITDA" is a non-GAAP measure that is defined by the Company as operating profit from continuing operations plus depreciation and amortization, in each case as reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, and further adjusted as indicated in the last sentence of this paragraph. We have found that EBITDA, serves as an effective proxy for a company's current operating profitability, and is readily understood by our employee population. Further, EBITDA is utilized by investors and other consumers of our financial statements as a supplement to other financial metrics (including revenue and free cash flow) which, when reviewed with our GAAP results and the associated reconciliation, we believe provides additional data that is useful to obtain an understanding of the variables and developments influencing our business. Free Cash Flow is calculated

as operating cash flow minus capital expenditures. Free Cash Flow is representative of the cash that a company is able to amass after the expenditures required to sustain or grow its asset base. All metrics exclude any restructuring costs, the impact of acquired or divested companies during the year and related transaction costs, the results of discontinued operations, and charges related to pension settlements.

The amount of each Named Executive Officer's annual cash incentive compensation is based on a percentage of the Named Executive Officer's base salary, prorated for the weight accorded to each metric. For performance below the minimum threshold, no incentive award is paid. For each Named Executive Officer (other than Ms. Hanley as described below), up to 40% of base salary would generally be payable as an annual cash incentive award if minimum threshold performance is achieved, up to 60% of base salary would generally be payable if performance met the target threshold, and up to 200% of base salary would generally be payable if performance met or exceeded the maximum threshold. Informed by peer benchmark data and Ms. Hanley's consistent high performance, the Compensation Committee approved increasing Ms. Hanley's target bonus percentage from 40% to 45% for 2017. For the 2017 performance year, the percentages of base salary related to minimum, target and maximum level performance for Ms. Hanley were 22.5%, 45% and 90%, respectively.

For performance levels between thresholds, the potential award percentage for each metric is interpolated on a straight line basis. In 2017, the Compensation Committee retained discretion to adjust downward the payout under the annual cash incentive plan based on its subjective assessment of the Company's and/or the individual Named Executive Officer's performance for the year. The Compensation Committee does not establish formal goals or objectives for the Named Executive Officers with regard to individual performance. For 2017 the Compensation Committee did not make any discretionary negative adjustments to the annual cash incentive awards.

For 2017, the Company had Revenue Growth of 8.7% EBITDA of \$176.3 million and Free Cash Flow of \$104.5 million. This overall performance yielded an annual cash incentive award of 157.2% of base salary for the following Named Executive Officers in the amounts shown: Mr. Klosk – \$1,139,700, Mr. Cavanagh – \$864,600, Mr. Vadaketh – \$628,800, and Mr. Sargen – \$786,000, and 75.6% of base salary for Ms. Hanley in the amount of \$246,224.

Long Term Incentive Awards

The Compensation Committee views long-term incentive awards as an integral component of our compensation program, promoting executive retention and creation of long-term shareholder value by aligning the interests of Named Executive Officers with those of our shareholders. The Compensation Committee uses the median of long-term incentive awards granted by the peer group as a reference point when evaluating long-term incentive awards as part of the Named Executive Officers' overall compensation. While the peer group data for the Named Executive Officer's position is the key factor in determining the amount of long-term incentive awards, the Compensation Committee also considers such factors as the Named Executive Officer's effectiveness in his role, the amounts of prior awards, the overall nature, level and complexity of his responsibilities, his tenure in the role, and to the extent that it is a limiting factor, the number of shares available to be granted under shareholder approved equity incentive plans.

Each of our Named Executive Officers received long-term incentive awards in 2017. These awards consisted of stock options and stock-settled performance share units ("PSUs") granted under the Company's 2009 Long Term Incentive Plan for Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh, Vadaketh and Sargen and stock options for Ms. Hanley. The Compensation Committee chose to grant stock options to provide these Named Executive Officers with an incentive to drive long-term appreciation in the value of the Company's stock for the benefit of shareholders. Stock options provide value to the recipient only if the price of the Company's Common Stock increases above the option's exercise price, which is set at the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of the grant. The Compensation Committee also chose to grant PSUs to Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh, Vadaketh and Sargen to reward these executives for our performance compared to the performance of publicly-traded life sciences companies competing in the same industry

as the Company. Typically, our PSUs are based on three-year performance measures and are not paid out until after the third anniversary of the grant date. Our stock options generally vest in equal increments over a four-year period at each annual anniversary of the grant date. These vesting schedules and vesting conditions apply to the PSUs and stock options granted in 2017. Both stock options and PSUs are subject to a Named Executive Officer's continued employment through the applicable vesting date, but may vest sooner in whole (in the case of stock options) or in part (in the case of PSUs) upon a change of control or, in the case of PSUs, in the event of termination under certain circumstances of the grantee's employment.

In October 2017, Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh, Sargen, Vadaketh and Ms. Hanley received grants of 38,000 stock options, 30,000 stock options, 25,000 stock options and 20,000 stock options, respectively, each with an exercise price set at \$45.64. The Company sets exercise prices for each option grant at the mean price between the daily high and low trading prices for its Common Stock on the option's grant date.

The 2017 PSU awards provide the Named Executive Officer the right to receive a certain number of shares of the Company's Common Stock in the future, the amount of which depends on the Company's level of achievement of revenue growth and EBITDA growth as compared to the revenue growth and EBITDA growth of the members of a specified peer group of companies over a specified performance period. For purposes of the PSU awards made to Named Executive Officers in 2017, the peer group against which Cambrex's performance will be measured consists of those companies with 2016 revenues between ten percent (10%) and seven hundred and fifty percent (750%) of the Company's 2016 revenues that are contained in the GICS Code of 352030, Life Sciences Tools and Services, as of the first day of the month in which an award was granted and for which the relevant metrics are calculable. For purposes of measuring relative revenue and EBITDA growth as applied to our PSU awards, we determined that it was appropriate to use a broader group of competitors within our industry than we use for our executive compensation program generally because we believe that many of our investors are likely to view investing in those companies as potential alternatives to investing in Cambrex. While there is overlap between that group and our general executive compensation peer group, as described above, the latter group is more narrowly focused on companies that we believe are more likely to be direct competitors for talent, which we think is more appropriate for consideration in setting executive compensation levels.

In October 2017, the Company granted PSU awards for up to a maximum of the following number of shares of our Common Stock to the following Named Executive Officers: Mr. Klosk – 39,000 shares; Mr. Cavanagh – 34,000 shares; Mr. Sargen – 27,000 shares; Mr. Vadaketh – 27,000 shares. The period for measuring performance for the PSUs is generally the one-year period beginning on the second anniversary of the first day of the month in which an award was granted. The components for measuring performance are Revenue and EBITDA. Each of these performance metrics is weighted at 50%. Revenue and EBITDA during this one-year period are compared to the one-year period ending the month before the grant date. The grantee will earn up to 25% of the maximum value of the award if the Company performs at the 25th percentile of the peer companies, up to 50% of the maximum value of the award if the Company performs at the 50th percentile and up to 100% of the maximum value of the award is determined by interpolating on a straight line basis between thresholds, the amount payable under the award is determined by interpolating on a straight line basis between the higher and lower thresholds. If the Company's performance falls below the 25th percentile for revenue growth or EBITDA growth over the three-year period, the grantee will receive no payment under the award in respect of such metric. The maximum value of the award would be payable in the event that the Company performed at or above the 75th percentile for both metrics over the three-year period.

Severance and Change of Control Agreements

Cambrex has entered into employment and change of control agreements with certain Named Executive Officers, which are discussed in detail below in the section entitled "Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control." Also detailed in that section are the potential payouts for each of the Named Executive Officers under a variety of potential termination scenarios covered by the agreements. Those potential payouts are part of the total compensation package for each Named Executive Officer reviewed by the Compensation Committee each year, and are designed to provide for continuity of management in the event of actual or potential change in control of the Company. The agreements also include non-competition provisions that bind our Named Executive Officers and which may not otherwise be part of the employment relationship. The Company did not amend any existing employment or change of control agreements with any Named Executive Officers in 2017, but did enter into an employment and change in control agreement with Mr. Vadaketh, as described below, in connection with his commencement of employment with us in January 2017.

Retirement Plans

The Company maintains the Cambrex Corporation Savings Plan (the "Savings Plan"), which is a defined contribution retirement savings plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"). Cambrex's U.S.-based employees are able to defer to the Savings Plan on a pre-tax basis up to the lesser of 50% of their annual salary or the limit prescribed by the Code. The Company matches 100% of the first 3% and 50% of the next 3% of a participant's pay that he or she defers. The Company's matching contributions vest in 20% increments based on a participant's years of employment with the Company, with full vesting after five years. Each of our Named Executive Officers participated in the Savings Plan in 2017. The Company believes the Savings Plan is a key employee benefit that serves to attract and retain employees, including our Named Executive Officers.

The Company also maintains the Retirement Plan for Cambrex Employees (the "Qualified Plan"), a tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan, and the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the "SERP"), a non-qualified defined benefit pension plan, both of which were frozen in 2007. Messrs. Klosk and Cavanagh participate in these plans due to their pre-2007 service and Mr. Klosk participated in the SERP prior to January 2018, when the final payments were made under the plan.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Code generally limits to \$1 million the amount that Cambrex may deduct for federal income tax purposes in any calendar year in respect of compensation for the year for certain executive officers. For 2017 and prior years, this deduction limit did not apply to compensation that qualified as performance-based under Section 162(m). The performance-based compensation exception to Section 162(m) was repealed, and certain other changes were made to Section 162(m), generally effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017. As a result, compensation paid to certain of our current and former executive officers in excess of \$1 million in a taxable year generally will not be deductible beginning in 2018 unless the compensation is paid under an arrangement that qualifies for transition relief applicable to legally-binding contracts that were in effect on November 2, 2017. In 2017, in determining awards as part of our compensation program, the Compensation Committee generally took into account the availability of a tax deduction for the awards but views tax deductibility as only one of several factors that bear upon the appropriateness of particular compensation decisions. The Compensation Committee intends to continue to monitor the impact of the changes to Section 162(m) on our compensation program.

Clawback Requirements

In the event that we are required to prepare an accounting restatement as a result of misconduct, to the extent required by law, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are required under certain circumstances to reimburse the Company for bonuses, other incentive-based or equity-based compensation, and profits realized on the sale of our securities. The SEC has proposed but not finalized rules regarding adoption of a mandatory policy on recovery of incentive-based compensation as required under Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We expect to adopt a policy on recovery of incentive-based compensation in connection with the implementation of those final rules.

COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Summary Compensation Table for 2017, 2016 and 2015

The following table shows for fiscal years 2017, 2016, and 2015 the compensation awarded, paid to, or earned by the Named Executive Officers.

					Non Equity	Change in		
			Stock	Option	Non-Equity Incentive Plan	Pension	All Other	
	,	Salary ¹	Awards ²	$Awards^3$	Compensation	⁴ Value ⁵	Compensatio	onFotal
Name and Principal Position	Year ((2)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	Compensation
Steven M. Klosk		\$718,750	\$889,980	\$656,260	\$ 1,139,700	\$38,130	\$ 12,150	\$3,454,970
President and Chief		, ,	, ,	,,	, , ,	, ,	, ,	, , , , , , , , ,
Executive	2016 3	\$650,000	\$1,016,250	\$777,985	\$ 1,300,000	\$26,318	\$ 11,925	\$3,782,478
Officer	2015 3	\$591,667	\$1,033,875	\$834,825	\$ 1,300,000	\$(10,831)	\$ 11,925	\$3,761,461
		·		·		, ,	·	
Shawn P. Cavanagh Executive Vice	2017 5	\$545,833	\$775,880	\$518,100	\$ 864,600	\$19,316	\$ 12,150	\$2,735,880
President and Chief	2016 5	\$500,000	\$711,375	\$544,590	\$ 1,000,000	\$12,015	\$ 11,925	\$2,779,905
Operating Officer								
	2015	\$473,021	\$723,713	\$584,378	\$ 1,000,000	\$(8,823)	\$ 11,925	\$2,784,214
Tom Vadaketh Executive Vice	2017	\$377,778	\$616,140	\$1,231,748	\$ 628,800	\$—	\$ 62,150	\$2,916,616
President and Chief								
Financial Officer								
Gregory P. Sargen Executive Vice		\$497,500 \$470,000	\$616,140 \$609,750	\$431,750 \$466,791	\$ 786,000 \$ 940,000	\$— \$—	\$ 12,150 \$ 11,925	\$2,343,540 \$2,498,466
President, Corporate								

Development

and Strategy	2015 \$446,667	\$620,325	\$500,895	\$ 940,000	\$—	\$ 11,925	\$2,519,812
Samantha Hanley Vice President, General	2017 \$325,500	\$ —	\$345,400	\$ 246,224	\$—	\$ 12,150	\$929,274
Counsel and Corporate	2016 \$310,000	\$ —	\$388,993	\$ 248,000	\$—	\$ 11,925	\$958,918
Secretary							
Sociolary	2015 \$275,000	\$—	\$551,887	\$ 224,000	\$ —	\$ 11,925	\$1,062,812

¹Salary. Cambrex's fiscal year ends December 31.

²Stock Awards. Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of the PSU awards granted to each Named Executive Officer computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The grant date fair value of PSUs assumes performance at the target level, which would result in the delivery of (i) for grants made in 2017, 19,500, 17,000, 13,500 and 13,500 shares with respect to the awards for Mr. Klosk, Mr. Cavanagh, Mr. Vadaketh and Mr. Sargen, respectively, and (ii) for grants made in 2016 and 2015, 25,000, 17,500 and 15,000 shares with respect to the awards for Mr. Klosk, Mr. Cavanagh, and Mr. Sargen, respectively. Assuming performance at maximum levels, the grant date fair values (determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718) of the PSUs granted (i) in 2017 to Mssrs. Klosk, Cavanagh, Vadaketh and Sargen would have been \$1,779,960, \$1,551,760, \$1,232,280 and \$1,232,280, respectively, (ii) in 2016 to Mssrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen would have been \$2,032,500, \$1,422,750 and \$1,219,500, respectively, and (iii) in 2015 to Mssrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen would have been \$2,067,750, \$1,447,426 and \$1,240,650, respectively. The Long Term Incentive Awards section within the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this document includes further explanation of PSUs and refers to the number of units that can be earned at different levels of performance.

³Option Awards. Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of the awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The option award values are calculated as of the grant date based on the number of options granted using a Black-Scholes calculation of fair value that the Company uses to calculate compensation expense. With respect to the 2017 option awards, the assumptions for the valuation are set forth in Note 16 of the Company's financial statements included in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 8, 2018. With respect to the 2016 option awards, the assumptions for the valuation are set forth in Note 16 of the Company's financial statements included in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2017. With respect to 2015 option awards, the assumptions for the valuation are set forth in Note 16 of the Company's financial statements included in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 9, 2016.

- ⁴Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation. The 2017 amounts reflect the annual cash incentive plan awards paid in February 2018 for fiscal year 2017 performance. Similarly, amounts shown for 2016 and 2015 reflect amounts paid for the applicable performance year.
- ⁵Change in Pension Value and Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Earnings. This column shows the aggregate change in the actuarial present value of Mr. Klosk's and Mr. Cavanagh's accumulated benefits under all of our defined benefit pension plans. Benefits earned under the Qualified Plan and the SERP were frozen in 2007 for all participants, and therefore amounts included within this column represent only the change in discounted present values of benefits due to changes in long term interest rates or other actuarial assumptions. The final installment of payments owed under the SERP was paid in January 2018 and no other amounts are payable under that plan. For more information regarding accrued benefits under our pension plans, see the "Pension Benefits" table.
- ⁶ All Other Compensation. For 2017, the amount shown for Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh, Sargen and Ms. Hanley represents a Savings Plan match of \$12,150. For Mr. Vadaketh, the amount shown for 2017 represents a Savings Plan match of \$12,150 and a sign-on bonus of \$50,000.

Grant of Plan-Based Awards Table for 2017

The following table contains information concerning each grant of an award made to each of the Named Executive Officers for 2017 under any plan.

			Estimated 1	Possible Pa	youts Under		ed Future	e Payouts				
			Non-Equity Awards ¹	y Incentive	Plan	Equity 1	Incentive	Plan				
			Awarus			Awarus	•				Grant	
											Date	Grant
									All other	•	Closing	Fair
									Option	Exercise	Price	Value
									Awards: Number			Stock
									Securitie	es	orUnderly	Option
	Type of	Grant	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Thresho	ollarget	Maximu	nOptions		•	_
ie		Date	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(#)	(#)	(#)	(#)	(\$/Sh)	(\$/Sh)	(\$)
en M. Klosk	PSU Stock	10/30/17	\$290,000	\$435,000	\$1,450,000	9,750	19,500	39,000				\$889,9
		10/30/17							38,000	\$45.64	\$45.20	\$656,2
vn P. Cavanagh	PSU Stock	10/30/17	\$220,000	\$330,000	\$1,100,000	8,500	17,000	34,000				\$775,
		10/30/17							30,000	\$45.64	\$45.20	\$518,
Vadaketh	PSU Stock	10/30/17	\$160,000	\$240,000	\$800,000	6,750	13,500	27,000				\$616,
		01/20/17							38,037	\$54.15	\$54.04	\$799,9
	Options	10/30/17							25,000	\$45.64	\$45.20	\$431,
ory P. Sargen	PSU Stock	10/30/17	\$200,000	\$300,000	\$1,000,000	6,750	13,500	27,000				\$616,
		10/30/17							25,000	\$45.64	\$45.20	\$431,
antha Hanley	Stock		\$73,238	\$146,475	\$292,950							
	Options	10/30/17							20,000	\$45.64	\$45.20	\$345,4

- ¹Non-Equity Incentive Plan amounts reflect threshold, target and maximum award amounts established for fiscal year 2017 under the Company's annual cash incentive plan. The actual amounts earned for 2017 performance and paid in February of 2018 are reported on the Summary Compensation Table. Information on the performance metrics applicable to these awards under our annual cash incentive plan is included in the "Annual Cash Incentive Awards" section of the Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
- ²Equity Incentive Plan Awards reflect the PSUs granted to Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen on October 30, 2017. Details of the performance criteria are included in the "Long-Term Incentive Awards" section of the Compensation Discussion and Analysis.
- ³Option exercise price is calculated as an average of the high and low trading price of the Company's Common Stock on the date that the option is awarded.
- ⁴Represents grant date closing price of shares underlying option and PSU grants.
- ⁵Amounts reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the awards computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
- ⁶See footnotes 2 and 3 to the Summary Compensation for additional information regarding certain assumptions related to the amounts shown.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2017 Fiscal Year-End

The following table discloses information regarding stock options, stock that has not vested and equity incentive plan awards for each Named Executive Officer outstanding as of December 31, 2017.

	Option Av	wards Number of	Shares			Stock Av	vards
		Underlying	2				
		Unexercise	ed Options (#)				T
						Equity	Equity Incentive
						Incentive	
						Plan	Awards:
						Awards:	Market or
						Number of	Payout
						Unearne	dValue
						Shares,	of Unearned
						Units, or	Shares,
						Other	Units, or
						Rights	Other
				Option	Option	That	Rights
	Grant			Exercise	Expiration	Have	That Have
Name Steven M. Klosk	10/24/12	80,000	enexercisable ¹	\$12.4600		Not Vest	eNot Vested ³
	10/28/13 10/22/14 10/21/15 10/26/16	80,000 60,000 25,000 12,500	20,000 25,000 37,500	\$16.9050 \$17.8100 \$41.3550 \$40.6500	10/28/20 10/22/21 10/21/22 10/26/23	25,000 25,000	\$1,200,000 \$1,200,000
	10/30/17	_	38,000	\$45.6400	10/30/24	19,500	\$936,000
Shawn P. Cavanagh	10/28/13 10/22/14 10/21/15	10,000 10,000 17,500	10,000 17,500	\$16.9050 \$17.8100 \$41.3550	10/28/20 10/22/21 10/21/22	17,500	\$840,000

	10/26/16	8,750	26,250	\$40.6500	10/26/23	17,500	\$840,000
	10/30/17	_	30,000	\$45.6400	10/30/24	17,000	\$816,000
Tom Vadaketh	01/20/17	_	38,037	\$54.1500	01/20/24		
	10/30/17	_	25,000	\$45.6400	10/30/24	13,500	\$648,000
Gregory P. Sargen	10/28/13	7,500	-	\$16.9050	10/28/20		
	10/22/14	7,500	7,500	\$17.8100	10/22/21		
	10/21/15	15,000	15,000	\$41.3550	10/21/22	15,000	\$720,000
	10/26/16	7,500	22,500	\$40.6500	10/26/23	15,000	\$720,000
	10/30/17	_	25,000	\$45.6400	10/30/24	13,500	\$648,000
Samantha Hanley	10/28/13	2,500	-	\$16.9050	10/28/20		
	10/22/14	2,500	2,500	\$17.8100	10/22/21		
	01/28/15	-	7,500	\$22.4950	01/28/22		
	10/21/15	12,500	12,500	\$41.3550	10/21/22		
	10/26/16	6,250	18,750	\$40.6500	10/26/23		
	10/30/17	_	20,000	\$45.6400	10/30/24		

¹All stock options vest in four equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date (i.e., 25% per year), subject to the Named Executive Officer's continued employment with us through the applicable vesting date.

²The exercise price of option awards is calculated as an average of the high and low trading price of the Company's Common Stock on the date that the Compensation Committee approved the grant.

26

³Market value, and the number of shares in the preceding column, assumes achievement of the performance criteria applicable to the PSUs at target level. The value is determined using the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00). For the PSUs granted on October 30, 2017, Messrs, Klosk, Cavanagh, Vadaketh and Sargen can receive a maximum award of up to 39,000, 34,000, 27,000 and 27,000 shares, respectively, dependent on the Company's level of revenue and EBITDA growth over a three-year period beginning October 1, 2017, as compared to an index of peer companies. If performance is at the median of the peer group, Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh, Vadaketh and Sargen will receive 19,500, 17,000, 13,500 and 13,500 shares, respectively. If performance is below the minimum threshold, there will be no award. For the PSUs granted on October 26, 2016, Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen can receive a maximum award of up to 50,000, 35,000 and 30,000 shares, respectively, dependent on the Company's level of revenue and EBITDA growth over a three year period beginning October 1, 2016 respectively, as compared to an index of peer companies. If performance is at the median of the peer group, Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen will receive 25,000, 17,500 and 15,000 shares, respectively. If performance is below the minimum threshold, there will be no award. For the PSUs granted on October 21, 2015, Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen can receive a maximum award of up to 50,000, 35,000 and 30,000 shares, respectively, dependent on the Company's level of revenue and EBITDA growth over a three-year period beginning October 1, 2015, as compared to an index of peer companies. If performance is at the median of the peer group, Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen will receive 25,000, 17,500 and 15,000 shares, respectively. If performance is below the minimum threshold, there will be no award. The "Long Term Incentive Awards" section within the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this document includes further explanation of PSU.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2017

The following table discloses each exercise of stock options, and each vesting of PSUs during fiscal year 2017 for each Named Executive Officer.

	Option Av	wards	Stock Av	wards
	Number		Number	
	of		of	
	Shares	Value	Shares	
				Value
	Acquired	Realized	Acquired	l
			_	Realized
	on	on	on	
	Exercise	Exercise	Vesting	on Vesting
Name	(#)	$(\$)^1$	$(#)^2$	$(\$)^3$
Steven M. Klosk	100,000	\$5,027,937	80,000	\$4,368,000
Shawn P. Cavanagh	-	\$-	40,000	\$2,184,000
Tom Vadaketh	-	\$-	-	\$-
Gregory P. Sargen	-	\$-	30,000	\$1,638,000
Samantha Hanley	14,000	\$531,594	_	\$ —

¹Value based upon the market value of a share of the Company's Common Stock at the time the stock options were exercised, less the applicable per share exercise price.

²For Messrs. Klosk, Cavanagh and Sargen, includes 80,000, 40,000 and 30,000 shares, respectively, that vested on September 30, 2017.

³ Value shown in table above is based on the average of the high and low trading price of the Company's Common Stock on the day the awards vested, i.e., September 29, 2017.

Pension Benefits

The following table shows the pension benefits of the Named Executive Officers.

		Number of		Payments
		Years of	Present	During Last
		Credited	Value of	Fiscal
		Service	Accumulated	
Name	Plan Name	(#)	Benefits (\$)1	Year $(\$)^2$
Steven M. Klosk	The Qualified Plan	15	\$ 450,296	\$
	SERP	15	\$ 55,566	\$ 55,566
Shawn P. Cavanagh ³	The Qualified Plan	8	\$ 168,141	\$ <i>-</i>
	SERP	_	\$ —	\$
Tom Vadaketh ⁴	The Qualified Plan	_	\$ —	\$ <i>—</i>
	SERP	_	\$ —	\$ <i>—</i>
Gregory P. Sargen ⁴	The Qualified Plan		\$ —	\$ <i>-</i>
	SERP		\$ —	\$ <i>-</i>
Samantha Hanley ⁴	The Qualified Plan	_	\$ —	\$ <i>—</i>
	SERP	_	\$ —	\$ <i>—</i>

¹ Accrued benefit payments for The Qualified Plan are in the form of a single life annuity as of age 65 (Normal Retirement). Assumptions used to calculate Present Value: 3.55% discount rate and RP-2014 healthy annuitant mortality table de-trended to 2006 with generational projection using Scale MP-2017.

Qualified Plan: Normal retirement age occurs upon the later of the participant reaching age 65 or the fifth anniversary of the date on which a participant commences participation in the plan. The annual benefit is equal to 1% of the participant's annual pay during each year of participation plus 0.6% of the amount of the participant's annual pay above the Social Security wage base for each year. For this purpose, Social Security covered compensation is the 35-year average of the Social Security wage base ending with the year in which the participant reaches age 65. A participant's total benefit under the Qualified Plan is equal to the sum of his or her annual benefit for each year of service, subject to the limitations imposed by the Code. Early retirement is permitted upon the participant's attainment of at least age 55 and 10 years of eligible service, but, if the participant elects early retirement, the benefit under the Qualified Plan is reduced by 6% for each year the retiree is below age 65. Benefits under this plan were frozen as of August 2007.

SERP: The benefit formula under the SERP is the same as the formula under the Qualified Plan but applies only to amounts of compensation received in excess of the amount that can be taken into consideration for purposes of the Qualified Plan under the Code. Benefits under the SERP were also frozen as of August 2007. In July 2008, the Compensation Committee amended the SERP effective January 1, 2009, to pay out accrued pension values immediately if the lump sum value was under \$10,000 or, if the value was over \$10,000, in 10 equal annual

²In accordance with the terms of the SERP, Mr. Klosk received the ninth of 10 equal annual installments of his entire account balance under the SERP in January 2017.

³Mr. Cavanagh participates in The Qualified Plan, but does not participate in the SERP.

⁴Mr. Sargen, Mr. Vadaketh and Ms. Hanley do not participate in The Qualified Plan or the SERP.

installments, beginning in January 2009. The final payments under the SERP were made in January 2018.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

Severance Arrangements

Pursuant to a letter agreement entered into in connection with the commencement of his employment, in the event that Mr. Sargen's employment is terminated involuntarily other than for Cause, or if he should voluntarily terminate his employment for Good Reason, he will be entitled to receive severance payments equal to his monthly base salary plus continuation of medical benefits for a period of up to nine months or until he secures other comparable employment, whichever occurs sooner.

Pursuant to a letter agreement entered into in connection with the commencement of each of Mr. Cavanaugh's and Mr. Vadaketh's employment, in the event that the affected Named Executive Officer's employment is terminated involuntarily other than for Cause, he will be entitled to receive severance payments equal to his monthly base salary for a period of up to twelve months or until he secures other comparable employment, whichever occurs sooner.

For the purposes of Mr. Cavanagh's and Mr. Vadaketh's letter agreements, "Cause" is defined in the same manner as under their change of control employment agreements (as described below). For purposes of Mr. Sargen's letter agreement, "Cause" is defined as misconduct, fraud, gross negligence or insubordination, and "Good Reason" is defined as (i) relocation of the principal place at which Mr. Sargen's job duties are to be performed to a location more than 35 miles from his current office location, or (ii) a substantial reduction in the responsibilities, authorities or functions from those which were assigned to Mr. Sargen on his date of hire, or (iii) a substantial reduction in Mr. Sargen's base salary or benefits which is not part of a general reduction of substantially all of the like officers' compensation.

Change of Control Employment Agreements

The Company entered into change of control employment agreements with Mr. Sargen in February 2007, Mr. Cavanagh in January 2011, and Mr. Vadaketh in 2017, each of which only take effect upon a change in control. These employment agreements were entered into to preserve management stability in the event of a threatened or actual change of control of the Company.

These employment agreements become effective upon a "change of control" of the Company or certain events that precede a later change in control (the "Effective Date"). For this purpose, "change of control" is defined as: (i) the acquisition by one person or a group of persons of 15% or more of the Company's outstanding Common Stock or combined voting power; (ii) a change in a majority of the incumbent Board unless approved by the incumbent Board; (iii) approval by the stockholders of a transaction which results in the stockholders of the Company immediately before the transaction not owning at least 50% of the Company's Common Stock following the transaction, or a liquidation or dissolution of the Company; (iv) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or (v) any other event or series of events determined by the Board to constitute a change of control.

Following a change of control, the Company has agreed to employ Messrs. Sargen, Cavanagh and Vadaketh for a period of two years from the Effective Date (the "Employment Period") in a commensurate position at a location not more than 35 miles, in the case of Mr. Sargen, or 50 miles, in the cases of Messrs. Cavanagh, and Vadaketh, from the location of his employment at the time of the change of control at a monthly base salary equivalent to the employee's highest monthly base salary in the 12 months preceding the change of control. Each of Messrs. Sargen, Cavanagh and Vadaketh would be eligible to receive an annual bonus on the same basis as any bonus paid in the fiscal year immediately preceding the change of control. During the Employment Period, the employee may be terminated for "Cause," which is defined as: (i) personal dishonesty or breach of fiduciary duty involving personal profit; (ii) the commission of a criminal act related to the performance of duties, or the disclosure of confidential information of the Company to a competitor, potential competitor or third party whose interests are adverse to those of the Company; (iii) habitual intoxication by alcohol or drugs during working hours; or (iv) conviction of a felony.

During the Employment Period, Messrs. Sargen, Cavanagh, and Vadaketh may each terminate his employment for "Good Reason," which is defined as: (i) an office relocation of more than 35 miles, in the case of Mr. Sargen, or 50 miles, in the case of Mr. Cavanagh and Mr. Vadaketh; (ii) a substantial reduction in base salary, benefits or perquisites; (iii) a substantial reduction in the responsibilities, authorities or functions of the executive from those he had during the 90-day period preceding the Effective Date; (iv) a substantial change in the work conditions of the executive from such conditions during the 90-day period preceding the Effective Date; or (v) failure to require a successor to assume the Company's obligations under the agreement. In addition, under Mr. Sargen's agreement, any voluntary termination of Mr. Sargen's employment by him during the 30-day period immediately following the first

anniversary of the Effective Date is deemed to be "Good Reason."

If Messrs. Sargen's, Cavanagh's or Vadaketh's employment is terminated due to other death, or disability or with Cause, or if a covered employee terminates his employment for Good Reason, the Company must pay to the employee a lump sum in cash within 30 days of the covered employee's date of termination of the following amount: (i) to the extent not theretofore paid, the covered employee's base salary, which shall be deemed to equal the higher of the rate in effect on the date of termination or the highest rate in effect during the 90-day period preceding the Effective Date (the "Highest Base Salary"), through termination date; (ii) the product of the highest annual bonus earned by the covered employee during the two fiscal years immediately preceding the date of termination, and a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the current fiscal year through the date of termination and the denominator of which is 365; (iii) the product of a fraction, the numerator of which is 24 minus the number of whole months the covered employee has been employed following the first anniversary of the Effective Date and the denominator of which is 12, multiplied by the employee's Highest Base Salary; (iv) the product of a fraction, the numerator of which is 24 less the number of months the covered employee has been employed following the first anniversary of the Effective Date and the denominator of which is 12, multiplied by the highest annual bonus earned by the employee during the prior two years (or, until an annual bonus has been earned, his target bonus); and (v) all previously deferred compensation plus any interest thereon and any accrued but unused vacation. In addition, following a qualifying termination, the Company will continue all benefits to the affected covered employee and his family for the balance of the Employment Period (or for such longer period as an applicable plan, program, practice or policy may provide), and all outstanding equity awards will vest and become exercisable upon such termination.

The change of control employment agreements also contain non-competition and non-disclosure of confidential information restrictions. These non-competition restrictions apply during the covered executive's employment through the first anniversary of his date of termination. Further, with respect to Mr. Sargen, the change of control employment agreement also provides for a gross-up of any taxes due under Section 4999 of the Code in connection with payments made under his change of control employment agreement or otherwise. Messrs. Cavanagh's and Vadaketh's change of control employment agreements provide that if any payments to him under his change in control employment agreement or otherwise would be subject to Section 4999 of the Code, those payments will be reduced to the extent necessary so that no portion thereof shall be subject to the excise tax imposed by that section. In the event that any lump sum cash payment payable to Mr. Sargen, Mr. Cavanagh, or Mr. Vadaketh is required to be deferred in order to avoid adverse consequences under section 409A of the Code, such payments will accrue interest at the rate of prime plus 1%.

Long-Term Incentive Awards

Long-term incentive awards granted to our Named Executive Officers will vest in whole (in the case of stock options) or in part (in the case of PSUs) upon a change of control, as described in the notes to the tables below. Additionally, as reflected in the tables below, equity awards may vest upon a termination of a Named Executive Officer's employment under specified circumstances.

SERP

In connection with a change of control, the SERP balances of all participants, including Mr. Klosk, would immediately be paid out in full. For this purpose, a change of control of the Company is defined as (i) the acquisition by one person or a group of persons of 15% or more of the Company's outstanding Common Stock or combined voting power; (ii) a change in a majority of the incumbent board of directors unless approved by the incumbent board of directors; (iii) a transaction that results in the stockholders of the Company immediately before the transaction not owning at least 50% of the Company's Common Stock following the transaction; (iv) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or (v) any other event or series of events determined by the Board of Directors to constitute a change of control. The tenth (10th) and final payment to Mr. Klosk was made in January 2018.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

On December 29, 2017

All estimates below assume a qualifying termination and/or change of control on December 29, 2017, the last business day of our 2017 fiscal year.

Steven M. Klosk¹

		Change of	
		Control	Termination
	Involuntary	without	After
	Termination	Termination	Change
Payments & Benefits	Not for Cause	of Employment	of Control
Stock Options ²	\$ <i>—</i>	\$ 1,135,230	\$1,135,230
PSU Awards ³	\$ 2,681,508	\$ 2,681,508	\$2,681,508
Total	\$ 2,681,508	\$ 3,816,738	\$3,816,738

¹ Mr. Klosk is not a party to an employment agreement or change of control agreement with the Company.

Shawn P. Cavanagh

Payments & Benefits	Involuntary	Termination	Change of	
	Termination	After	Control	
	Not for Cause	Change	without	

² All of Mr. Klosk's stock options would vest in full upon the occurrence of a change of control. The present value of each unvested stock option is calculated using the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00) less the applicable per share exercise price.

³ If there is a change of control, or if Mr. Klosk's employment is terminated other than for Cause (as defined in the PSU award) or due to death or disability, performance under Mr. Klosk's PSUs would be measured as of the end of the four-quarter period ending immediately prior to such change in control or termination (or would be deemed earned at 100% if there is not sufficient information to perform the necessary performance calculations of performance), and he would be entitled to pro-rated vesting based on the time elapsed during the period. The amount of this payment is calculated based on the amount of shares expected to vest, 47,500 shares for the October 21, 2015 grant, 45,000 shares for the October 26, 2016 grant, and 19,500 shares for the October 30, 2017 grant, at the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00).

		of Control	Termination
			of Employment
Cash Severance	\$ 550,000	\$3,100,000	\$ —
Pro Rata Bonus	\$ <i>—</i>	\$1,000,000	\$ —
Stock Options ¹	\$ <i>-</i>	\$611,125	\$ 611,125
PSU Awards ²	\$ 1,925,268	\$1,925,268	\$ 1,925,268
Health Care Benefits	\$ <i>-</i>	\$37,630	\$ —
Savings Plan Benefits	\$ <i>-</i>	\$24,300	\$ —
Life Insurance	\$ <i>-</i>	\$3,847	\$ —
Total	2,475,268	\$6,702,170	\$ 2,536,393

¹ All of Mr. Cavanagh's stock options would vest in full upon the occurrence of a change of control. The present value of each unvested stock option is calculated using the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00) less the applicable per share exercise price.

² 2 If there is a change of control, or if Mr. Cavanagh's employment is terminated other than for Cause (as defined in the PSU award) or due to death or disability, performance under Mr. Cavanagh's PSUs would be measured as of the end of the four-quarter period ending immediately prior to such change in control or termination (or would be deemed earned at 100% if there is not sufficient information to perform the necessary calculations of performance), and he would be entitled to pro-rated vesting based on the portion of the number of days that have elapsed during the performance period. The amount of this payment is calculated based on the amount of shares expected to vest, 33,250 shares for the October 21, 2015, 31,500 shares for the October 26, 2016 grant, and 17,000 shares for the October 30, 2017 grant, at the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00).

Tom Vadaketh

			Change of
		Termination	Control
	Involuntary	After	without
	Termination	Change	Termination
Payments & Benefits	Not for Cause	of Control	of Employment
Cash Severance	\$ 400,000	\$900,000	\$ —
Pro Rata Bonus	\$ —	\$50,000	\$ —
Stock Options ¹	\$ —	\$59,000	\$ 59,000
PSU Awards ²	\$ 53,705	\$53,705	\$ 53,705
Health Care Benefits	\$ —	\$37,630	\$ —
Savings Plan Benefits	\$ —	\$24,300	\$ —
Life Insurance	\$ —	\$5,773	\$ —
Total	453,705	\$1,130,408	\$ 112,705

¹ All of Mr. Vadaketh's stock options would vest in full upon the occurrence of a change of control. The present value of each unvested stock option is calculated using the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00) less the applicable per share exercise price.

Gregory P. Sargen¹

Payments & Benefits	Involuntary	Voluntary	Termination	Change of
	Termination	Termination	After	Control
	Not for Cause	For Good	Change	without
		Reason	of Control	Termination

² If there is a change of control, or if Mr. Vadaketh's employment is terminated other than for Cause (as defined in the PSU award) or due to death or disability, performance under Mr. Vadaketh's PSUs would be measured as of the end of the four-quarter period ending immediately prior to such change in control or termination (or would be deemed earned at 100% if there is not sufficient information to perform the necessary calculations of performance), and he would be entitled to pro-rated vesting based on the portion of the number of days that have elapsed during the performance period. The amount of this payment is calculated based on the amount of shares expected to vest, 13,500 shares for the October 30, 2017 grant, at the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00).

				of Employment
Cash Severance	\$ 375,000	\$ 375,000	\$2,572,000	\$ —
Pro Rata Bonus	\$ <i>-</i>	\$ —	\$786,000	\$ —
Stock Options ²	\$ <i>—</i>	\$ —	\$491,475	\$ 491,475
PSU Awards ³	\$ 1,562,164	\$ —	\$1,562,164	\$ 1,562,164
Health Care Benefits	\$ 17,217	\$ 17,217	\$37,630	\$ —
Savings Plan Benefits	\$ <i>-</i>	\$ —	\$24,300	\$ —
Life Insurance Proceeds/Disability Benefits	\$ <i>—</i>	\$ —	\$2,872	\$ —
Total	1,954,381	392,217	\$5,476,441	\$ 2,053,639

¹Estimates assume that Mr. Sargen's employment is terminated on December 31, 2017, and that he is entitled to a 12 month pro rata bonus, which otherwise would not be earned until paid. Mr. Sargen's change of control employment agreement provides for a gross-up of any taxes due under Section 4999 of the Code in connection with payments made under his change of control employment agreement or otherwise. However, under the assumptions set forth herein Mr. Sargen would not be subject to tax under Section 4999 in connection with a change in control and therefore no gross up amount is reflected in this table.

²All of Mr. Sargen's stock options would vest in full upon the occurrence of a change of control. The present value of each unvested stock option is calculated using the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00) less the applicable per share exercise price.

³If there is a change of control, or if Mr. Sargen's employment is terminated other than for Cause (as defined in the PSU award) or due to death or disability, performance under Mr. Sargen's PSUs would be measured as of the end of the four-quarter period ending immediately prior to such change in control or termination (or would 32

be deemed earned at 100% if there is not sufficient information to perform the necessary calculations of performance), and he would be entitled to pro-rated vesting based on the portion of the number of days that have elapsed during the performance period. The amount of this payment is calculated based on the amount of shares expected to vest, 28,500 shares for the October 21, 2015 grant, 27,000 shares for the October 26, 2016 grant and 13,500 shares for the October 30, 2017 grant, at the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017 (\$48.00). Samantha Hanley

Change of

Control

Involuntary without

Termination Termination

Payments & Benefits Not for Cause¹ of Employment

Cash Severance \$ — \$ —

Stock Options¹ \$ — \$ 534,838

Total — 534,838

As required by law, below we provide a reasonable estimate of the ratio of the total compensation of our Chief Executive Officer to the total compensation of our median employee for 2017. Due to permitted variations in methodology and other factors, the Company's pay ratio is not directly comparable to the pay ratios of other companies, including other companies within our industry. We have not taken the ratio into account in making compensation decisions. We identified the median employee by ranking all employees (excluding the CEO, Mr. Klosk) as of December 31, 2017, by total taxable wages paid by the Company, as applicable for each jurisdiction in which we have employees, and selecting the median. For the employees in our non-U.S. locations, the relevant year-to-date average exchange rate as of December 31, 2017, was used to convert local currency into U.S. dollars. In accordance with applicable SEC rules, the 2017 total annual compensation of the median employee was \$51,067.12, the annual total compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, as reported in the Summary Compensation Table, was \$3,454,970, and the ratio of Mr. Klosk's total compensation to that of our median employee was 68 to 1.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Name	Fees	Stock	Option	Total	Options
	Earned				Granted in

¹ All of Ms. Hanley's stock options would vest in full upon the occurrence of a change of control. The present value of each unvested stock option is calculated using the closing price of the Company's Common Stock on December 29, 2017(\$48.00) less the applicable per share exercise price.

CEO Pay Ratio

Edgar Filing: CAMBREX CORP - Form DEF 14A

	or Paid in	Awards (1)	Awards (2)		2017
	Cash				
Gregory B. Brown ⁽³⁾	\$11,766	\$11,720	\$15,921	\$39,407	360
Rosina B. Dixon	\$92,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$207,000	5,016
Claes Glassel	\$81,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$196,000	1,577
Louis Grabowsky	\$81,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$196,000	1,577
Bernhard Hampl	\$70,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$185,000	1,577
Kathryn R. Harrigan	\$81,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$196,000	1,577
Ilan Kaufthal	\$97,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$212,000	1,681
Peter G. Tombros	\$101,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$216,000	5,016
Shlomo Yanai	\$245,000	\$70,000	\$45,000	\$360,000	1,577

(1) Each non-employee director was awarded 1,187 restricted stock units on April 27, 2017(other than Dr. Brown, who was awarded 265 restricted stock units on October 31, 2017). The value of each director's restricted stock unit award is calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, using as the value of a share of the Company's common stock the average of the highest and lowest trading price of the Company's common stock as reported on the NYSE on the date of the award (\$per share with respect to all directors). As of December 31, 2017, the only outstanding stock award held by any of our non-employee directors was Dr. Brown's restricted stock unit award shown in the table above. All other stock awards granted to our non-employee directors in 2017 had been settled prior to that date.

- (2) The amount shown in the "Option Awards" column above reflects the grant date fair value of stock options awarded to our non-employee directors in 2017, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions for the valuation are set forth in Note 17 of the Company's financial statements included in the Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 8, 2018, except that for this purpose each option's expected life, which is one of the factors used in the Black-Scholes model, varies based on the director's age and anticipated retirement date under our non-employee director retirement policy. As of December 31, 2017, our non-employee directors held the following number of stock options: Dr. Dixon 5,016 stock options; Mr. Glassell 3,190 stock options; Mr. Grabowsky 3,373 stock options; Dr. Harrigan 15,564 stock options; Mr. Kaufthal 15,668 stock options; Mr. Tombros 22,532 stock options; and Mr. Yanai 15,564 stock options.
- (3) Dr. Brown joined the Board on October 31, 2017, and his 2017 cash compensation and grants of restricted stock units and stock options were pro-rated accordingly.

Directors are paid in accordance with the Company's non-employee director compensation program. Each year, the Governance Committee reviews the Company's non-employee director compensation program to determine whether it is offering a competitive compensation package that will allow it to recruit and retain talented directors, including a review of peer group data (using the same peer group used for executives) as well as market and industry trends. In response to that comparative analysis, in fiscal year 2017, the Governance Committee recommended and the Board of Directors approved an increase in the Company's non-employee director compensation program, and directors were paid as follows: the compensation for non-employee directors consisted of an annual retainer of \$55,000, the Chair of the Audit Committee received a further annual retainer of \$25,000, the Chairpersons of the Compensation received a further retainer of 20,000 (prorated for time served as Chairperson), and the Governance and Regulatory Affairs Committees Chairpersons each received a further annual retainer of \$15,000 (prorated for time served as Chairperson, as applicable). In addition, each non-employee director of the Company except the Non-Executive Chairman received (i) \$2,500 for each in-person Board meeting he or she attended exceeding 6 annual meetings (including the annual meeting of shareholders), (ii) \$1,500 for each in-person Committee meeting he or she attended, (iii) \$1,500 for each telephonic Board meeting that he or she attended in excess of 6 meetings annually (including the annual meeting of shareholders), and (iv) \$1,000 for each telephonic Committee meeting that he or she attended. Directors also receive reimbursement for expenses incurred in connection with meeting attendance. Employees of the Company who are also directors did not receive any separate fees for acting as directors.

For 2017, Mr. Yanai received \$245,000 in cash compensation for his service as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board, which is unchanged since 2014 when Mr. Yanai was appointed to the position. Mr. Yanai did not receive any separate Board or Committee meeting cash fees during 2017.

Members of the Board also participate in the Directors' Equity Program whereby on the first business day following the annual meeting of the Company's shareholders, each non-employee director receives an annual award of such number of restricted stock units under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors. For 2017, the value of this award was \$70,000 (determined by dividing \$70,000 by the average of the highest and lowest trading prices of the Company's stock as reported on the NYSE on the date of the award). Such restricted stock units do not vest until the date that is six months following the date of grant.

In addition, each non-employee director is awarded an option to purchase a specific number of shares of the Company's common stock under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors. The number of shares awarded to each non-employee director is based on the value of the option, which is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The value of this award was \$45,000 for 2017. The number of shares awarded varies from director to director due to different assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model for each director. The expected life assumption in the model varies for each director based on the director's age and retirement date under our non-employee director retirement policy.

The amount of cash retainer, meeting fees, Chairperson fees, restricted stock unit and option awards for each non-employee Board member earned during fiscal year 2017 are summarized in the table above.

Director Stock Ownership Guidelines

Under the Company's stock ownership policy for directors, directors are expected to acquire and hold Company stock equal in value to at least three times the annual retainer for directors, by the later of January 27, 2014, or three years from a director's election to the Board. The Company believes that this ownership policy further aligns director and stockholder interests and thereby promotes the objective of increasing stockholder value. Each of our non-employee directors (other than Messrs. Grabowsky and Glassell, Dr. Hampl, and Dr. Brown who joined the Board on November 2, 2015, March 14, 2016, October 27, 2016, and October 31, 2017, respectively, and are each within the applicable three-year transition period) are in compliance with the director stock ownership guideline.

PROPOSAL NO. 2

ADVISORY NON-BINDING VOTE ON THE COMPENSATION

OF THE NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Stockholders have an opportunity to cast an advisory, non-binding vote on the compensation paid to our Named Executive Officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement. This proposal, commonly known as a "Say on Pay" proposal, is currently conducted at each annual stockholders meeting and gives stockholders the opportunity to either approve, reject or abstain from voting with respect to such compensation.

As discussed in the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" section of this Proxy Statement, the primary objectives of our executive compensation program are to (i) attract and retain qualified executives with the requisite skills and abilities to enable us to achieve our corporate goals and (ii) align the interests of executives with those of stockholders by rewarding executives for the Company's achievement of its goals and increased stockholder value. While we believe that the Compensation Committee is in the best position to determine whether the Company's executive compensation program is appropriately tailored to meet these objectives, we appreciate and value our stockholders' views. Your advisory, non-binding vote will serve as an additional tool for the Compensation Committee in assessing the Company's executive compensation program.

The Board recommends a vote in favor of the following resolution:

"RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to the Company's Named Executive Officers, as disclosed pursuant to Item 402 of Regulation S-K in the Company's 2017 Proxy Statement, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, compensation tables and narrative discussion, is hereby APPROVED."

Because the vote on this proposal is advisory in nature, it will not affect any compensation already paid or awarded to any Named Executive Officer and will not be binding on or overrule any decisions of the Company, the Board or the Compensation Committee; it will not create or imply any change to the fiduciary duties of, or create or imply any additional fiduciary duties for, the Company, the Board or the Compensation Committee; and it will not restrict or limit the ability of stockholders to make proposals for inclusion in proxy materials related to executive compensation. Consistent with our commitment to high standards of corporate governance, the Compensation Committee intends to take into account the outcome of the vote when considering future compensation arrangements for our Named Executive Officers.

In addition, because this proposal is advisory and non-binding, there is no required vote that would constitute approval at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on this vote.

The Board recommends a vote "FOR" approval on an advisory, non-binding basis

of the compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers as disclosed in this Proxy Statement.

PROPOSAL 3

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

The Board, in accordance with the recommendation of the Audit Committee, has selected BDO to be the Company's independent registered public accountants for 2018, subject to the ratification of the stockholders.

A representative of BDO is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting, will be afforded an opportunity to make a statement if such representative desires to do so and is expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

This proposal requires the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on this vote.

The Board recommends a vote "FOR" the ratification of appointment of auditors

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FIRM FEES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to Cambrex for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm, BDO, for Audit and Audit-Related Fees:

	BDO Fees	BDO Fees
	December 31,	December 31,
	2017	2015
Audit Fees	\$ 1,362,186	\$ 1,293,945
Audit-Related Fees	29,619	28,000
Totals	\$ 1,391,805	\$ 1,321,945

AUDIT FEES

Aggregate Audit fees billed for professional services rendered by BDO in connection with its audit of the Company's financial statements were \$1,391,805 for the 2017 fiscal year and \$1,321,945 for the 2016 fiscal year. Such fees also include BDO's internal control review, quarterly reviews and statutory audits and attestations required pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the securities regulations. There were no tax or other services performed by BDO in either 2017 or 2016.

AUDIT-RELATED FEES

Aggregate Audit-Related fees billed for professional services rendered by BDO, in accordance with agreed upon procedures, in connection with assurance and related services reasonably related to the audit and review of the Company's financial statements were \$8,800 and 8,500 each year for the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years. Fiscal years 2017 and 2016 also included \$20,819 and \$19,500, respectively, for audits of the Company's employee benefit plans.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy

Under the Audit Committee's policy for pre-approval of all audit and permissible non-audit services performed by the independent registered public accountants (the "Policy"), the Audit Committee will approve the following Audit and Audit-Related Services prior to each engagement, along with a fee amount: (i) domestic quarterly reviews and the annual financial statement audit; (ii) statutory or financial audits for international subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company; (iii) the attestation engagement for the independent registered public accountants' report on management's assertion on internal controls for financial reporting; (iv) financial audits of employee benefit plans; and (v) due diligence services pertaining to potential business acquisitions and dispositions. On an annual basis, the Audit Committee will pre-approve a blanket amount to authorize the following Audit and Audit-Related Services: (i) consultations related to accounting, financial reporting or disclosure matters; (ii)

assistance with understanding and implementing new accounting and financial reporting guidance; and (iii) assistance with internal control reporting requirements and also Permissible Non-Audit Services, including tax services. Further, management will provide a quarterly update to the Audit Committee detailing actual spending by quarter and year-to-date for any services rendered under such pre-approval. Under the Policy, the Audit Committee has delegated pre-approval authority to the Audit Committee Chairperson for permissible services and fees up to a maximum of \$25,000. The Audit Committee Chairperson will report to the entire Audit Committee any services and fees approved pursuant to such delegation of authority.

During fiscal years 2017 and 2016, all services rendered were approved pursuant to the Policy. Further, during fiscal years 2017 and 2016, there were no services performed or fees incurred by BDO where pre-approval was waived pursuant to the statutory de minimis exception.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the billings by BDO and has determined that they do not affect the auditor's independence.

PROPOSAL NO. 4

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSAL REQUESTING THAT THE COMPANY ISSUE

AN ANNUAL ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Trillium Asset Management, LLC, on behalf of the Trillium Small/Mid Cap Fund, has submitted the below stockholder proposal for consideration at the Annual Meeting. We have been notified that the Trillium Small/Mid Cap Fund holds more than \$2,000 of Cambrex common stock. All statements contained in the stockholder proposal and supporting statement are the sole responsibility of the proponent. The stockholder proposal will be voted on at the Annual Meeting only if properly presented by or on behalf of the proponent. If properly presented at the Annual Meeting, the Board recommends a vote "AGAINST" this proposal.

Stockholder Proposal and Supporting Statement

RESOLVED

Shareholders request Cambrex Corporation issue an annual report describing the company's policies, strategies, performance, and improvement targets on material environmental, social, and governance (ESG) topics. This report should be prepared at reasonable cost and omit proprietary information.

SUPPORTING STATEMENT

Cambrex should consider the resources and recommendations made by the widely accepted Global Reporting Initiative, Sustainability Accounting Standards Board, and the Financial Stability Board's Taskforce on Climate Related Financial Disclosures when identifying ESG topics to be included in this report.

WHEREAS

Tracking and reporting on ESG practices strengthens a company's ability to compete and adapt in today's global business environment, which is characterized by finite natural resources, heightened public expectations for corporate accountability, and competition for talent.

Transparent, substantive reporting allows companies to better integrate and capture value from existing sustainability efforts, identify gaps and opportunities in policies and practices, strengthen risk management programs, stimulate innovation, enhance company-wide communications, and recruit and retain employees.

Cambrex provides some basic ESG-related statements on its website. For example, Cambrex states: "We are fully committed to continuous improvement in our environmental performance." However, without details of this commitment, supporting data, or a description of the steps it is taking to achieve this improvement, investors are unable to evaluate whether Cambrex is adequately prepared to mitigate ESG-related risks or take advantage of ESG-related opportunities.

37

Corporate sustainability reporting could also unlock opportunities for growth by communicating Cambrex's efforts to its business customers that increasingly seek to do business with companies that manage ESG issues responsibly. For instance, Gilead Sciences, which accounted for 36.9% of Cambrex's sales in 2016, recently updated its Supplier Code of Conduct to include indicators on diversity, labor practices, human rights, environmental health and safety, and environmental impact.

Corporate sustainability reporting is widespread:

In 2015, KPMG found 73% of 4,500 global companies had ESG reports.

The Governance & Accountability Institute reports 82% of the S&P 500 published corporate sustainability reports in 2016.

• CDP, representing 827 institutional investors globally with approximately \$100 trillion in assets, calls for company disclosure on greenhouse gas emissions and climate change management programs.

The link between strong sustainability management and value creation is increasingly evident. The University of Oxford and Arabesque Partners reviewed 200 studies on sustainability and corporate performance and concluded 90 percent of studies show "sound sustainability standards lower the cost of capital of companies" and 80 percent show "stock price performance of companies is positively influenced by good sustainability practices."

Furthermore, developing and communicating strong sustainability programs is a vital step in enabling Cambrex to attract and retain the top talent it needs to innovate and bring products to market. A study by the Society for Human Resource Management found employee morale was 55% better, loyalty 38% better and workforce productivity 21% better in firms with strong sustainability programs.

The Company's Statement in Opposition

Our Board recommends a vote "AGAINST" this proposal. We recognize the importance of environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations and are committed to conducting the Company's business in a responsible manner. However, we have carefully considered the stockholder proposal and do not believe the production of the type of formal report requested in the proposal would be a productive use of company resources, modify our existing commitment to ESG matters, or be beneficial to Cambrex or its stockholders.

As noted on our website, our strong commitment to environment, health and safety underpins all that we do across every one of our sites. At Cambrex, we strive to adhere to the highest standards to ensure the health and safety of our employees, neighbors, customers, consumers and others impacted by our activities or products. We have well-established risk assessment methods focused on safe handling and manufacturing of our products. These include, among others, formal safety reviews conducted prior to manufacture and toxicological risk assessments conducted for new process introductions.

All Cambrex facilities have programs for reducing emissions and employing environmentally friendly initiatives. These include: advanced wastewater treatment methods and facilities; safe waste handling and management with routine auditing of disposal facilities; periodic waste disposal audits; commitment to emission reduction; and REACH compliance. We promote strict environmental compliance everywhere we operate and, as noted above, are fully committed to continuous improvement in our environmental performance. We are also committed to finding and using the most eco-friendly synthetic routes and processes.

The Board has established a standing Regulatory Affairs Committee that is tasked with overseeing environmental, health and safety matters. As described in the charter of the Regulatory Affairs Committee, which is available on our website, the purpose of the Regulatory Affairs Committee is to oversee: (i) the Company's compliance efforts related to the environmental, health, safety and quality/regulatory affairs of the Company; (ii) the Company's strategy to

develop environmental, health, safety and quality/regulatory compliance programs that enhance the Company's compliance status and its competitive position within the marketplace; and (iii) the Company's efforts to proactively address challenges and opportunities related to environmental, health, safety and quality/regulatory compliance issues while contributing to the economic growth of the Company.

As described in our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, we believe that our commitment to the communities we serve demands no less than superior environmental stewardship. Cambrex and its subsidiaries strive to be industry leaders in protecting our environment, to meet or exceed all applicable regulatory requirements and seek ways to enhance our natural surroundings. To this end, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics requires that

38

each director, officer and employee of Cambrex work with respect for the environment and in accordance with our environmental pledge. To help facilitate our employees' role in our health and safety and environmental initiatives, we hold extensive safety training programs for employees and contractors, which includes an annual Safety Day for all employees. As a result, the success of our health and safety and environmental initiatives is characterized by our employees' participation, understanding and competence.

We believe that our employees are a key source of our competitive edge. We strongly support and recognize our responsibility to provide equal opportunities to all qualified individuals and place a high value on diversity. We are committed to developing and growing our talented team and offer a range of learning and training opportunities.

Our commitment to ESG matters has also been recognized by independent third parties. We were presented with the 2017 Educational Outreach Award by the Society of Chemical Manufacturers and Affiliates (SOCMA) for our Charles City facility's commitment in educating local schools about the benefits of chemistry and chemicals, as well as strong environmental, health, safety and security efforts. Also in 2017, we received the CMO Leadership Award in various categories including capabilities, compatibility, expertise, quality, reliability and service.

While our Board recognizes the importance of addressing environmental, social and governance considerations, we believe that preparing and issuing a formal report of the type requested in the proposal would require substantial time and expense without significant benefit to our stockholders. Compiling this information is expensive and time consuming and directs company resources away from activities that directly build stockholder value. Our Board also believes that the preparation of the report would not cause us to modify our existing commitment to ESG matters. For the foregoing reasons, we believe the report would not be beneficial to our stockholders or to the goal of enhanced sustainability. The Board therefore recommends a vote AGAINST this proposal.

This proposal requires the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on this vote.

The Board recommends a vote "AGAINST" this proposal.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR 2019

To be eligible for inclusion in the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting, stockholder proposals must be received by the Company's Corporate Secretary no later than the close of business on November 16, 2018. Proposals must satisfy certain eligibility requirements established by the SEC.

Under the Company's by-laws, any stockholder wishing to present a nomination for the office of director before the 2019 Annual Meeting for a vote or to bring a proposal or other business before the 2019 Annual Meeting for a vote must give the Company not less than 60 days (anticipated to be February 25, 2019) nor more than 90 days (anticipated to be January 26, 2019) advance notice prior to the anniversary date of the 2019 Annual Meeting. Any such notices must meet certain other requirements as stated in the Company's bylaws. Any stockholder interested in making such a nomination or proposal should request a copy of such bylaw provisions from the Corporate Secretary of Cambrex Corporation. If the Company does not receive notice of a stockholders proposal within this time frame, the individuals named in the proxies solicited by the Board for that meeting may exercise discretionary voting power with respect to that proposal.

MULTIPLE STOCKHOLDERS WITH THE SAME ADDRESS

We have adopted a procedure called "householding," which has been approved by the SEC. Under this procedure, we are delivering only one copy of the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, or the proxy statement and annual report, as applicable, to multiple stockholders who share the same address and have the same last name, unless we have received contrary instructions from an affected stockholder. This procedure reduces our printing costs, mailing costs and fees.

We will deliver promptly upon written or oral request a separate copy of the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, or the proxy statement and annual report, as applicable, to any stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of these materials were delivered. To receive a separate copy of these materials, you may contact Investor Relations at 201-804-3000.

If you are a holder of our Common Stock as of the record date and would like to revoke your householding consent and receive a separate copy of the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, or proxy statement and the annual report, in the future, please contact your bank, broker or other holder of record. You will be removed from the householding program within 30 days of receipt of the revocation of your consent.

Any stockholders of record sharing the same address and currently receiving multiple copies of Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, or the annual report and the proxy statement, who wish to receive only one copy of these materials per household in the future, may contact Investor Relations at the number listed above to participate in the householding program

A number of brokerage firms have instituted householding. If you hold your shares in "street name," please contact your bank, broker or other holder of record to request information about householding.

By Order of the Board of Directors.

Samantha Hanley Corporate Secretary

UPON WRITTEN REQUEST, THE COMPANY WILL PROVIDE TO EACH STOCKHOLDER, WITHOUT CHARGE, A COPY OF ITS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017, AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. REQUESTS SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO MS. SAMANTHA HANLEY VICE PRESIDENT, GENERAL COUNSEL AND CORPORATE SECRETARY, CAMBREX CORPORATION, ONE MEADOWLANDS PLAZA, 15TH FLOOR, EAST RUTHERFORD, NJ 07073. SUCH REPORT WILL BE FURNISHED WITHOUT EXHIBITS. COPIES OF THE EXHIBITS TO SUCH ANNUAL REPORT WILL BE FURNISHED TO REQUESTING STOCKHOLDERS UPON PAYMENT OF THE COMPANY'S REASONABLE EXPENSES IN FURNISHING THE SAME.

IN ADDITION, THIS PROXY STATEMENT IS AVAILABLE ONLINE AT: http://ir.cambrex.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=80683&p=irol-proxy

Exercise Your Right to Vote *** Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Shareholder Meeting to Be Held on April 26, 2018 CAMBREX CORPORATION Meeting Information Meeting Type: Annual Meeting For holders as of: March 01, 2018 Date: April 26, 2018 Location: Metropolitan Center One Meadowlands Plaza Time: 1:00 PM EST East Rutherford, New Jersey 07073 CAMBREX CORPORATION ONE MEADOWLANDS PLAZA ATTN:DANIELLE MANN EAST RUTHERFORD, NJ 07073 You are receiving this communication because you hold shares in the above named company. This is not a ballot. You cannot use this notice to vote these shares. This communication presents only an overview of the more complete proxy materials that are available to you on the Internet. You may view the proxy materials online at www.proxyvote.com or easily request a paper copy (see reverse side). We encourage you to access and review all of the important information contained in the proxy materials before voting. See the reverse side of this notice to obtain proxy materials and voting instructions.

Before You Vote How to Access the Proxy Materials Proxy Materials Available to VIEW or RECEIVE: 1. Form 10-K 2. Notice & Proxy Statement How to View Online: Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow following page) and visit: www.proxyvote.com. How to Request and Receive a PAPER or E-MAIL Copy: (located on the If you want to receive a paper or e-mail copy of these documents, you must request one. There is NO charge for requesting a copy. Please choose one of the following methods to make your request: 1) BY INTERNET: www.proxyvote.com 2) BY TELEPHONE: 1-800-579-1639 3) BY E-MAIL*: sendmaterial@proxyvote.com * If requesting materials by e-mail, please send a blank e-mail with the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow (located on the following page) in the subject line. Requests, instructions and other inquiries sent to this e-mail address will NOT be forwarded to your investment advisor. Please make the request as instructed above on or before April 12, 2018 to facilitate timely delivery. How To Vote Please Choose One of the Following Voting Methods Vote In Person: Many shareholder meetings have attendance requirements including, but not limited to, the possession of an attendance ticket issued by the entity holding the meeting. Please check the meeting materials for any special requirements for meeting attendance. At the meeting, you will need to request a ballot to vote these shares. Vote By Internet: To vote now by Internet, go to www.proxyvote.com. Have the information that is printed in the box marked by the arrow O available and follow the instructions. Vote By Mail: You can vote by mail by requesting a paper copy of the materials, which will include a proxy card. 0000360106 2

Voting items The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR each of the listed nominees: 1. The Election to the Company's Board of Directors of the eight nominees named in the Proxy Statement. Nominees 1 Gregory B. Brown 2 Claes Glassell 3 Louis J. Grabowsky 4 Bernhard Hampl 5 Kathryn R. Harrigan 6 Ilan Kaufthal 7 Steven M. Klosk 8 Shlomo Yanai The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR proposals 2 and 3. 2 Approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers as disclosed in the 2018 Proxy Statement. 3 Ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as the Company's independent registered public accountants for 2018. The Board of Directors recommends you vote AGAINST proposal 4. 4 A shareholder proposal regarding a report on environmental, social and governance topics. NOTE: Such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof. 0000360106_4 R1.0.1.17

0000360106_4 R1.0.1.17

CAMBREX CORPORATION ONE MEADOWLANDS PLAZA ATTN:DANIELLE MANN EAST RUTHERFORD, NJ 07073 VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form. ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY MATERIALS If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by our company in mailing proxy materials, you can consent to receiving all future proxy statements, proxy cards and annual reports electronically via e-mail or the Internet. To sign up for electronic delivery, please follow the instructions above to vote using the Internet and, when prompted, indicate that you agree to receive or access proxy materials electronically in future years. VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903 Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions. VOTE BY MAIL Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717. TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS: THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED. KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONLY The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR each of the listed nominees: 1 2 Nominees Gregory B. Brown Claes Glassell For Against Abstain 3 Louis J. Grabowsky 4 Bernhard Hampl 5 Kathryn R. Harrigan 6 Ilan Kaufthal 7 Steven M. Klosk Shlomo Yanai 1. The Election to the Company's Board of Directors of the eight nominees named in the Proxy Statement. The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR proposals 2 and 3. For Against Abstain 2 Approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers as disclosed in the 2018 Proxy Statement. 3 Ratification of the appointment of BDO USA, LLP as the Company's independent registered The Board of Directors recommends you vote AGAINST proposal 4. For Against public accountants for 2018. Abstain 4 A shareholder proposal regarding a report on environmental, social and governance topics. other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof. For address change/comments, mark here. (see reverse for instructions) Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, or other fiduciary, please give full title as such. Joint owners should each sign personally. All holders must sign. If a corporation or partnership, please sign in full corporate or partnership name, by authorized officer. Signature

[PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX] Date Signature (Joint Owners) Date

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The Form 10-K, Notice & Proxy Statement is/are available at www.proxyvote.com CAMBREX CORPORATION Annual Meeting of Shareholders April 26, 2018 1:00 PM This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors The undersigned stockholder of Cambrex Corporation (the "Company") hereby appoints Steven M. Klosk, Tom Vadaketh and Samantha Hanley, and each of them acting singly and each with power of substitution and re-substitution, attorneys and proxies of the undersigned (the "Proxies"), with all the powers the undersigned would possess if personally present, to vote the shares of Common Stock of the Company which the undersigned is entitled to vote at the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company to be held on April 26, 2018 at 1:00 p.m. at the Metropolitan Center, One Meadowlands Plaza, East Rutherford, New Jersey and any postponement(s) or adjournment(s) thereof. Directions may be obtained by calling the Company at 201-804-3000. Shares represented by this proxy will be voted by the Proxies as specified on the reverse side hereof. If no directions are indicated, the Proxies will have authority to vote FOR the election of each nominee, FOR proposals 2 and 3 and AGAINST proposal 4. In their discretion, the Proxies are hereby authorized to vote upon such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any postponement(s) or adjournment(s) thereof. Address change/comments: (If you noted any Address Changes and/or Comments above, please mark corresponding box on the reverse side.) Continued and to be signed on reverse side